# **Intracranial Atherosclerosis**

An ultrasound study

Nicola Logallo, MD



Dissertation for the degree philosophiae doctor (PhD) at the University of Bergen

2012



This project has been financially supported by the Norwegian ExtraFoundation for Health and Rehabilitation through EXTRA funds

# Scientific environment

- Department of Neurology, Haukeland University Hospital
- Department of Radiology, Haukeland University Hospital, Bergen
- Department of Clinical Medicine, University of Bergen
- Institute of Medicine, Section for Cardiology, University of Bergen
- Department of Neurology, Oslo University Hospital Rikshospitalet
- Institute of Clinical Medicine, University of Oslo
- Department of Medical Engineering, Hochschule Ulm,

University of Applied Sciences, Germany







UiO : Institute of Clinical Medicine University of Oslo



# Acknowledgements

My greatest gratitude goes to Professor Lars Thomassen who offered me the opportunity to carry out this fascinating project. During these years he has shown me the beauty of cerebral hemodynamics and guided me through this work with infinite enthusiasm.

I express my gratitude to Professor Ole-Bjørn Tysnes and Professor Nils Erik Gilhus for the support and the possibility to carry out this project at the Department of Neurology, Haukeland University Hospital and the Department of Clinical Medicine, University of Bergen.

I have had the privilege to work with outstanding experts in the fields of medicine, physics and engineering. Dr. Halvor Næss and Dr. Ulrike Waje-Andreassen have been a font of inspiration and have improved my work through continuous support and brilliant ideas. Dr. Titto Idicula and Dr. Jan Brøgger with their passion and indepth knowledge of stroke research and statistics have helped me coping with several methodological and statistical challenges. I am deeply grateful to Dr. Sean Wallace and his family for the enthusiasm shared during our effort to understand basic physical principles of ultrasound. I thank Professor David Russell, University of Oslo and Professor Rainer Brucher, University of Ulm, for the possibility to join their research groups in the study of experimental ultrasound. I express my gratitude to Professor Knut Matre, University of Bergen, who has contributed with his expertise in the field of physics and ultrasound.

I thank all the Ph.D. and medical students who I have shared the office with, who have always been able to create a stimulating and relaxing work environment.

Finally, I am infinitely grateful to my family for their care and support, and last but not least, to my girlfriend Nina who has made me a happy *refugee* in this country.

# Contents

SCIENTIFIC ENVIRONMENT	3
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	5
LIST OF ABBREVATIONS	9
INTRODUCTION	11
INTRACRANIAL ATHEROSCLEROSIS	11
Epidemiology	12
Risk factors	14
Stroke mechanisms	15
Diagnostic imaging	17
ULTRASOUND CONTRAST AGENTS	24
Fundamental properties of ultrasound contrast agents	24
Contrast-enhanced transcranial ultrasound	26
ULTRASOUND MEASUREMENT OF THE CEREBRAL BLOOD FLOW	27
LIST OF PUBLICATIONS	29
AIMS OF THE THESIS	30
MATERIAL AND METHODS	31
Bergen NORSTROKE STUDY	31
Diagnostic work-up	31
DIAGNOSTIC CRITERIA FOR INTRACRANIAL STENOSIS AND INTRACRANIAL ATHEROSCLEROSIS .	34
IN VITRO CLOSED-LOOP PHANTOM	35
RESULTS	37
PREVALENCE OF INTRACRANIAL ATHEROSCLEROSIS (PAPER I)	37
DIAGNOSTIC PERFORMANCE OF TRANSCRANIAL COLOR-CODED SONOGRAPHY (PAPER II)	38
TCCS continuity equation method vs CTA	38
Continuity equation vs cut-off velocity method	39
EFFECT OF ULTRASOUND CONTRAST AGENTS ON VELOCITY MEASUREMENTS (PAPER III)	

DISCUSSION	42
PREVALENCE OF INTRACRANIAL ATHEROSCLEROSIS IN ISCHEMIC STROKE AND TIA PATIENTS	42
DIAGNOSIS OF INTRACRANIAL ATHEROSCLEROSIS	45
ROLE OF ULTRASOUND IN THE DIAGNOSIS OF INTRACRANIAL STENOSIS	47
ULTRASOUND CONTRAST AGENTS	53
BLOOD FLOW VOLUME MEASUREMENTS	55
CONCLUSIONS	57
REFERENCES	59
PAPER I-IV	74

# List of abbrevations

A	Area
ACA	Anterior cerebral artery
AF	Atrial fibrillation
AI	Area index
BFV	Blood flow velocity
CE MRA	Contrast-enhanced MRA
CSA	Cross-sectional area
СТ	Computed tomography
СТА	Computed tomographic angiography
D <sub>i</sub>	Intrastenotic diameter
DM	Diabetes mellitus
$D_p$	Prestenotic diameter
DSA	Digital subtraction angiography
DSI	Doppler signal intensity
DWI	Diffusion-weighted MR imaging
ECAS	Extracranial atherosclerosis
ES	Extracranial stenosis
FI	Flow index
Hct	Hematocrit
HR MRI	High-resolution magnetic resonance imaging
Hz	Hertz
ICAS	Intracranial atherosclerosis
IS	Intracranial stenosis
MCA	Middle cerebral artery
MES	Microembolic signal
MHz	Mega Hertz

MPa	Mega Pascal
MRA	Magnetic resonance angiography
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
MV	Mean velocity
NPV	Negative predictive value
PCA	Posterior cerebral artery
PPV	Positive predictive value
p <sub>r</sub>	Acostic pressure
PSV	Peak systolic velocity
RBC	Red blood cells
TCCS	Transcranial color-coded sonography
TCD	Transcranial Doppler
TIA	Transient ischemic attack
TOAST	Trial of ORG 10172 in Acute Stroke Treatment
TOF MRA	Time-of-flight magnetic resonance angiography
UCA	Ultrasound contrast agents
v	Velocity

## Introduction

## Intracranial Atherosclerosis

Atherosclerosis is a systemic disease of the vessel wall. The atherosclerotic plaque develops due to the accumulation of lipids, inflammatory cells, smooth muscle cells, and extracellular matrix in the subendothelial space over time.<sup>1</sup> Atherosclerotic plaques are mainly found at arterial bifurcations, branch points and vessel curvatures, whereas straight unbranching arterial segments are generally spared.<sup>2</sup> Cerebral. cardiac, and peripheral atherosclerosis are leading causes of morbidity and mortality in the Western world.<sup>3-6</sup> Although the higher risk of ICAS in patients of Asian. African, and Hispanic ethnicity compared to Caucasians was described already in 1986,<sup>7</sup> ICAS has long been a rather neglected research field in Europe and North America. In Chinese patients ICAS accounts for about 33-50% of ischemic strokes and >50% of TIA.<sup>8-10</sup> As the majority of the world's population is represented by Asians, ICAS is the most common vascular lesion in stroke patients worldwide.<sup>11</sup> In Caucasians, ICAS accounts for ~1-12.4% of all ischemic stroke patients.<sup>12-15</sup> Research on ICAS has exponentially increased over the last two decades.<sup>16</sup> However, several aspects still remain to be investigated, such as the prevalence of ICAS in Northern Europe; the responsible factors for the development of atherosclerosis in different locations among ethnicities; the pathophysiological differences between extracranial atherosclerosis (ECAS) and ICAS; the optimal diagnostic screening and evaluation of ICAS lesions; the best medical treatment for patients with ICAS; the optimal candidates for revascularization therapy; and the ultimate clinical outcome in patients with ICAS.

## Epidemiology

The studies reporting the prevalence of ICAS include population-based, hospitaladmission-based, and autopsy studies.

Autopsy studies have the major advantage to identify minor intracranial plaques and to investigate the histopathologic features of the intracranial plaque, but are affected by selection bias. *In vivo* studies are characterized by the limitations of the diagnostic imaging methods, which may be unable 1) to detect initial stages of ICAS; 2) to differentiate ICAS from stenoses of other etiology; and 3) to provide histopathologic composition and activity of the intracranial atherosclerotic plaque.<sup>16</sup> One of the most striking and unresolved issue about ICAS is the large difference in prevalence among ethnicities.<sup>11</sup> Literature regarding ICAS epidemiology will therefore be reviewed on a geographic basis.

#### Asia

In the early 1980s, a Japanese autopsy study showed that ICAS was more severe in ischemic stroke patients than in patients without stroke or cerebral hemorrhage.<sup>17</sup> Another Chinese autopsy study showed a significantly higher prevalence of ICAS compared to ECAS, and a strong correlation between age and ICAS, with at least one  $\geq$ 50% stenosis in more than 50% of the patients reaching 90 years of age.<sup>18</sup>

Population-based studies have been made possible by the high availability and lowcost of transcranial Doppler (TCD). Two large Chinese TCD studies have shown ICAS to be present in ~6-7% of stroke free, asymptomatic subjects.<sup>19, 20</sup> The prevalence of asymptomatic ICAS in the Chinese population therefore appears similar to the prevalence of asymptomatic ECAS in Caucasians, i.e. 2-8%.<sup>21</sup> In Chinese patients with at least one vascular risk factor (hyperlipidemia, hypertension, diabetes mellitus) middle cerebral artery (MCA) stenosis was found in 12.6% of the subjects and the prevalence of MCA stenosis increased quadratically with increasing number of risk factors: from ~7% for one risk factor to ~30% for four risk factors.<sup>22</sup> In Japanese patients undergoing coronary artery bypass graft,  $\geq$ 50% ECAS was found in ~17% of the patients, and  $\geq$ 50% ICAS in ~21%.<sup>23</sup>

In studies reporting the prevalence of symptomatic ICAS in stroke patients, digital subtraction angiography (DSA) has long been considered the gold standard, but non-invasive methods have gained importance during the last years.<sup>24</sup> One magnetic resonance angiography (MRA) study has shown that ICAS was present in ~35% of Indian ischemic stroke patients versus ECAS ~7%.<sup>25</sup> In South Asians ischemic stroke patients, ICAS was found by MRA or TCD in 54% of the cases.<sup>26</sup> Other ultrasonographical studies from China have confirmed the high prevalence of ICAS in Chinese stroke patients, which appears to vary between 30 and 54%.<sup>8, 26</sup> The prevalence of ICAS in TIA patients is most likely as high as in ischemic stroke patients, although based on limited data from one ultrasonographical study reporting ICAS in 51% of Chinese TIA patients.<sup>9</sup>

#### North America and Europe

The interest towards ICAS in the Western world began to rise in the late 1950s when one of the first autopsy studies described the presence of atherosclerosis in the intracranial arteries.<sup>27</sup> Already in the late 1960s, several studies had shown that ICAS occurred more frequently among black people compared to white.<sup>28-31</sup> More recently, data from the Northern Manhattan Stroke Study have shown ICAS to be the cause of ischemic stroke in 1% of Caucasians, 6% of African Americans, and 11% of Hispanics.<sup>12</sup> In Europeans, ICAS appears to be the cause of ischemic stroke in ~2-7% of the cases in Germany,<sup>13, 14</sup> ~10% in Greece and ~12% in Spain.<sup>15, 32</sup> There are limited data on the prevalence of ICAS in the general population. In asymptomatic patients referred for carotid Doppler ultrasound, ICAS was identified in  $\sim$ 13% of the patients by TCD.<sup>33</sup> In Spain, ICAS appears to affect  $\sim$ 9% of stroke-free Caucasians with moderate-high vascular risk.<sup>34</sup>

## **Risk factors**

Ethnicity is undoubtedly the major risk for ICAS. However, it remains unclear if ethnicity is an independent risk factor for ICAS or if the heterogeneity of risk factors presented in different ethnic groups represents a confounder. Most of the conventional cardio- and cerebrovascular risk factors have been associated also with ICAS. Advanced age is a strong risk factor for ICAS, and it has been suggested that ICAS develops one decade later in life compared with ECAS.<sup>35</sup> Evidences about association between ICAS and gender are controversial, but some evidences suggest a male predominance in ICAS.<sup>7, 20, 36</sup> Gender appears also to influence the progression of the ICAS. ICAS is found earlier in men but may progress faster in women, possibly due to menopausal hormonal changes.<sup>37</sup> Both autopsy<sup>35</sup> and clinical studies<sup>19, 22, 38-43</sup> have found a strong association between hypertension and ICAS. Diabetes mellitus (DM) appears also to be a strong risk factor for ICAS, both in asymptomatic<sup>43</sup> and symptomatic ICAS,<sup>15, 44, 45</sup> possibly even stronger than hypertension. DM is closely associated also to both ICAS and ECAS.<sup>46, 47</sup> Although hyperlipidemia is a wellknown risk factor for ECAS, its association to ICAS remains unclear and only few studies have found a strong association between hyperlipidemia and ICAS.<sup>22, 38</sup> Metabolic syndrome is another composite risk factor which has recently been found to be more strongly associated to ICAS than ECAS.<sup>48-50</sup>

Studies which have compared the role of risk factors in ICAS and ECAS patients have shown discordant results. Several studies have suggested that hypertension is more closely associated with ICAS than hyperlipidemia, whereas hyperlipidemia may play a greater role than hypertension in patients with ECAS.<sup>7, 30, 40, 51</sup> However, other

studies have failed to find difference in risk factors between these two groups of patients, and have suggested ethnicity as the only independent factor.<sup>36, 52, 53</sup>

### Stroke mechanisms

The pathophysiology of the intracranial plaque does not substantially differ from atherosclerosis in other vessels such as coronary or carotid arteries. *In situ* thrombotic occlusion, artery-to-artery embolism, branch occlusive disease of the orifice of perforating arteries, hypoperfusion or the combination of these mechanisms lead to cerebral ischemia in patients with ICAS.<sup>54, 55</sup> Advances in neurovascular imaging have improved our insight into stroke mechanisms in ICAS patients.

## In situ thrombotic occlusion

Acute thrombosis superimposed on the intracranial atherosclerotic plaque is caused by the rupture of the plaque fibrous cap leading to release of tissue factors from the damaged endothelial surface.<sup>56</sup> Secondary artery-to-artery embolism may coexist.<sup>57, 58</sup> Among the stroke mechanisms in ICAS patients, *in situ* thrombotic occlusion usually leads to the largest infarcts. However, the gradual progression of atherosclerosis may allow the establishment of intracranial collaterals which may prevent a complete territorial infarction. The infarction area is therefore often limited to the striatocapsular area, borderzone area or both, and the final infarction size depends on the development of the collateral circulation.

### Branch occlusive disease

Occlusive disease of deep central perforating arteries occurs when an intracranial atherosclerotic plaque protrudes and occludes the orifice of perforating arteries, leading to a subcortical lacunar-like infarct. Atheromatous branch occlusive disease must be differentiated from lipohyalinosis, which is characterized by segmental wall disorganization along the course of perforating arteries and usually related to hypertension. Lipohyalinosis is considered the common underlying cause of lacunar infarcts.

Intracranial atheromatous branch disease has long been a "neglected, understudied, and underused concept".<sup>59</sup> Although branch occlusion is accurately detected only by anatomopathological studies, vascular imaging and DWI may provide some pathognomonic signs, such as coexistence of small subcortical infarct and ipsilateral intracranial stenosis. Asian studies have shown that many lacunar infarcts are caused by ICAS rather than lipohyalinosis.<sup>60-63</sup> Clinical course and infarction size may help distinguish between these two diseases. Infarcts caused by branch occlusive disease may be characterized by symptoms fluctuation and are usually larger than lacunes caused by lipohyalinosis.<sup>60, 61</sup> Occlusion of the perforating arteries may be caused by minor atherosclerotic plaques<sup>64</sup> which are often overlooked by the routine intracranial vascular imaging. The actual prevalence of this mechanism therefore remains undefined and probably underestimated.

## Artery-to-artery embolism

Distal artery-to-artery embolism from an intracranial stenosis to peripheral arterial segments often coexists with *in situ* thrombotic occlusion. Distal embolism of atherosclerotic debris may originate from plaque ulceration, and/or from disgregation of a thrombotic occlusion. Lesions causing artery-to-artery embolism may have higher degree of stenosis than lesions causing branch occlusion.<sup>64</sup> High-grade stenosis may be associated with perfusion deficits in the territory of the stenotic vessel, leading to more severe distal embolic infarction through impaired emboli clearance.<sup>65</sup> Diffusion-weighted MR imaging (DWI) and microembolic signal (MES) monitoring are useful diagnostic tools to define a possible artery-to-artery mechanism in patients with cerebral infarction and ICAS. Coexistence of multiple small cortical infarctions at

DWI and detection of MES with TCD are highly suggestive for an underlying arteryto-artery stroke mechanism.

## Hypoperfusion

The atherosclerotic plaque may progressively obliterate the arterial lumen and eventually lead to hypoperfusion, if collaterals are insufficient. In these patients, TIA and/or ischemic stroke typically occur in concomitance with conditions disturbing cerebral perfusion, e.g. high-grade ECAS and inadequate circle of Willis.

Hypoperfusion may coexist with other mechanisms. High-grade ICAS causing hypoperfusion may be unstable and undergo cap fissuring because of elevated share stress and turbulent flow. In patients with high-grade ICAS and small, multiple infarctions in the borderzone areas, hypoperfusion may contribute to infarction in these areas by reducing the emboli clearance.<sup>66-68</sup> High-grade ICAS may also theoretically lead to hypoperfusion in the territories supplied by perforating arteries. The smaller the arterial lumen, the higher the intrastenotic blood flow velocity.<sup>69</sup> According to the Bernoulli's and the continuity principle, an increase in flow velocity is associated with a decrease in pressure (Venturi effect) to satisfy the principle of conservation of mechanical energy. In case of a high-grade MCA stenosis the high intrastenotic velocity might cause low pressure and thereby hypoperfusion in perforating arteries.<sup>70</sup>

## **Diagnostic imaging**

Digital subtraction angiography (DSA), magnetic resonance angiography (MRA), computed tomographic angiography (CTA) and transcranial ultrasonography (TCD/TCCS) are the available modalities for evaluation of intracranial arteries.

## Digital subtraction angiography

DSA is the current gold standard for imaging of the intracranial arterial pathology, included intracranial atherosclerosis.<sup>24</sup> The superiority of DSA is due to high spatial and contrast resolution, which makes this modality the most accurate in the evaluation of the degree of intracranial stenosis. The standardized method used to measure the degree of stenosis with DSA defines the stenosis as percent stenosis based on prestenotic and intrastenotic diameters ( $D_p$  and  $D_i$ ), i.e. [1-( $D_i/D_p$ ) x 100]%.<sup>71, 72</sup> Despite the superior image quality, there are several drawbacks. DSA may incorrectly diagnose high-grade stenosis in case of slow blood flow. In such hemodynamic conditions, the contrast filling of the vessel distal to the stenosis is poor and may falsely suggest arterial occlusion.<sup>73</sup> The bidimensional images provided by DSA may also overlook tortuosity and anatomical details which may be important in evaluation of patients addressed to stenting procedures. In TIA and ischemic stroke patients, DSA is associated with 3.0% risk of transient neurological deficit and 0.7% risk of permanent neurological deficit.<sup>74</sup> DSA exposes also patients to ionizing radiation, peripheral vascular complications and possible allergic reactions to contrast agent. Continuous improvement of other non-invasive modalities is challenging the role of DSA as gold standard.

## Magnetic Resonance Angiography

The use of MRA in ischemic stroke patients has increased exponentially in the last decade and several techniques are now available for detection of ICAS. The most common MRA technique is the 3D time-of-flight (TOF) sequence. TOF MRA appears to be reliable in excluding the presence of ICAS. Studies investigating the diagnostic performance of TOF MRA in detection of  $\geq$ 50% intracranial stenosis with DSA as gold standard have shown that TOF MRA has high negative predictive value (91-98%) and high specificity (99%), whereas positive predictive value and sensitivity were lower (59-63 and 70% respectively).<sup>24, 73</sup> However, TOF-MRA may overestimate the length and the degree of intracranial stenosis.<sup>75</sup> This limitation may

be overcome by contrast-enhanced MRA (CE MRA), which adopts gadolinium as contrast agent.<sup>75</sup> Even though CE MRA is promising, the necessity of contrast agents limits the routine use of CE MRA, and no study has compared the diagnostic performance of CE MRA with a gold standard.<sup>76</sup>

## Computed Tomographic Angiography

Computed tomography (CT) utilizes X-rays to produce cross-sectional, bidimensional images. CT technology has improved since Godfrey Hounsfield in 1972 developed the first scanner, which required hours to acquire images slice by slice, and days for post-processing. Modern CT acquires multiple slices in one breath hold. CT angiography (CTA) is obtained by acquisition of images during the first pass of intravenous iodinated contrast agent. Although CTA is performed quickly, expensive workstations are required to post-process the enormous image datasets. There are mainly three post-processing techniques: 1) multiplanar reformation (MPR), which creates 2-D images in arbitrary planes; 2) maximum intensity projection (MIP), which shows both contrast filling and vessel calcification; and 3) volume rendering, which provides colour 3-D images.<sup>77</sup> CTA has several advantages compared with MR and DSA. CTA is widely available and minimally invasive, quick to perform, less distorted from motion artifacts and less dependent from hemodynamic effects than MRA. With DSA as gold standard, CTA appears to have higher sensitivity (98% vs 70%), and higher positive predictive value (93% vs 65%) than MRA in detection of intracranial stenosis.<sup>73</sup> CTA may also be superior to DSA in detection of occlusion in the posterior circulation, especially in cases with slow flow.<sup>73</sup> CTA may therefore be the modality of choice to diagnose patients with ICAS. Drawbacks of CTA are possible artifacts deriving from extensive vessel calcification, lower resolution than DSA, and the use of iodinated contrast agents.<sup>78</sup> Another limitation of CTA is the lack of hemodynamic real-time assessment of the intracranial circulation.

## Transcranial ultrasonography

## Basic principles

The first ultrasound probe able to record blood flow velocity through the skull was introduced in 1982.<sup>79</sup> This ultrasound probe was based on the Doppler effect, and therefore called transcranial Doppler (TCD). The TCD machines in use today do not considerably differ from the first prototype, and still exploits a 2 MHz probe which depicts moving blood and displays the Doppler spectrum on the screen (Figure 1).

Figure 1. Transcranial Doppler spectrum of the middle cerebral artery



In the late 1980s transcranial color-coded sonography (TCCS) was introduced. This ultrasound technique utilizes a phased array transducer which combines the brightness mode (B-Mode), producing grey scale bidimensional pictures of the brain, with the Doppler mode. In TCCS the recorded Doppler shift frequencies are also exploited to create a spatial colour map of blood velocity overlaid on the B-mode image, and has therefore been defined as color Doppler mode. Thus, TCCS provides the visualization of both brain anatomy and intracranial vessels, and may both simplify and improve the examination of cerebral hemodynamics.

Insonation of the intracranial vessels can be performed through several bone "windows". The most commonly used windows are the transtemporal, the transnuchal (or transforaminal) and the orbital window. Examination techniques are similar in the two transcranial ultrasonographic technologies, but TCCS has the advantage of being guided by the color Doppler mode. Only TCCS examination technique will be presented here in detail. Transtemporal examination is performed by placing the transducer anterior to the upper insertion point of the auricle above the zygomatic arch. Insonation is performed using either axial or coronal plane. In the axial plane, several planes may be visualized tilting the transducer apically or caudally. It is recommended to start from the mesencephalic plane, which visualizes the midbrain as a hypoechogenic butterfly-like structure. In this plane, the whole circle of Willis (except the siphon) may be visualized with color Doppler (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Color-coded overview of the Circle of Willis with TCCS

M1: sphenoidal segment of the middle cerebral artery (MCA)

- M2: insular segment of the MCA
- ACA: anterior cerebral artery
- PCA: posterior cerebral artery

The siphon may be visualized by tilting the transducer further caudally.

The coronal plane is achieved by turning the transducer 90°. The anterior coronal plane is performed by tilting the transducer forwards. In this plane, the terminal siphon segment and its bifurcation into the middle and the anterior cerebral arteries may be visualized. By tilting the transducer backwards, the top of basilar and its bifurcation into the superior cerebellar arteries and the posterior cerebral arteries may be visualized. Other insonation approaches are the transorbital examination, performed by placing the transducer on the closed eyelid, and the transnuchal examination, performed by placing the transducer suboccipitally on the midline. Using the orbital ultrasound window the ophthalmic artery and the siphon may be visualized. Through the transnuchal bone window the distal segment of the intracranial vertebral artery and the proximal segment of the basilar artery may be depicted.

#### Diagnostic criteria

Detection of an intracranial stenosis with ultrasound is based on the principle that reduction in the vessel lumen leads to an increase of the blood flow velocity (BFV). If a focal velocity increase is found, the degree of stenosis is defined comparing the highest BFV measurement to BFV thresholds. To define the best BFV thresholds in detection of intracranial stenosis, ultrasonographic examinations of normal and stenotic arteries have been compared with a reference method, usually digital subtraction angiography. TCD diagnostic criteria are based on mean velocity (MV) threshold values while TCCS usually employs peak systolic velocity (PSV) measurements. Several threshold values have been tested against different gold standard modalities for detection of  $\geq$ 50% stenosis. A summary of the diagnostic performance of threshold values in detection of MCA stenosis by both TCD and TCCS are shown in Table 1.

TCD		Sensitivity	Specificity	PPV	NPV
		%	%	%	%
MV	≥80 cm/s <sup>a</sup>	92	92	89	98
	≥100 cm/s <sup>a</sup>	100	97	88	100
	≥100 cm/s <sup>b</sup>			55	83
	≥100 cm/s <sup>c</sup>	78	93	73	94
TCCS					
PSV	≥ 220 cm/s <sup>d</sup>	100	100	100	100

Table 1. Diagnostic performance of threshold values in detection of ≥50% MCA stenosis

PPV: positive predictive values

NPV: negative predictive values

a) Navarro JC, Cerebrovasc Dis. 2007;23:325-330 80

b) Feldmann E, Neurology. 2007;68:2099-2106 24

c) Zhao L, Stroke. 2011;42:3429-3434 81

d) Baumgartner RW, Stroke. 1999;30:87-92 <sup>82</sup>

Several velocity thresholds have been proposed and tested to diagnose stenosis in the other segments of the circle of Willis (Table 2).

	TCCS <sup>a</sup>	Sensitivity	Specifity	TCD <sup>b</sup>	Sensitivity	Specifity
	PSV (cm/s)	%	%	MV(cm/s)	%	%
ACA	≥155	100	100	≥80		
ICA <sup>c</sup>	≥120 <sup>c</sup>	87 <sup>c</sup>	83 <sup>c</sup>	≥80 <sup>c</sup>	93 <sup>c</sup>	<b>7</b> 6 <sup>c</sup>
PCA	≥145	100	91	≥50		
Basilar	≥140	100	100	≥80 <sup>d</sup>	69 <sup>d</sup>	69 <sup>d</sup>
Vertebral	≥120	100	100	≥80 <sup>d</sup>	69 <sup>d</sup>	69 <sup>d</sup>

Table 2. Diagnostic performance of threshold values in detection of ≥50% stenosis in other circle of Willis segments

a) Baumgartner RW, Stroke. 1999;30:87-92 82

b) Alexandrov AV, Cerebrovascular ultrasound in stroke prevention and treatment. Wiley; 2011 <sup>83</sup>

c) You Y, J Neuroimaging. 2010;20:234-239 84

d) Zhao L, Stroke. 2011;42:3429-3434 <sup>81</sup>

The reliability of these diagnostic criteria will be discussed in the "Discussion" section.

## **Ultrasound contrast agents**

Ultrasound contrast agents (UCA) are micron-sized bubbles containing low-soluble gas and surrounded by a thin outer layer or shell of phospholipids, sugars or polymer coating.<sup>85</sup> Gas-filled microbubbles scatter ultrasound much more effectively than a liquid or solid-filled microbubble of comparable size, and hence increase the magnitude of the received echo. UCA are used in all imaging modalities to increase the sensitivity of the imaging technique by increasing the image contrast between different structures.

UCA have been an active area of research since 1968, when opacification of the right cardiac ventricle was observed after injection of saline.<sup>86</sup> During the last three decades there has been efforts to develop stabilized microbubbles capable of transpulmonary passage for left side blood pool enhancement.<sup>87</sup> Since the introduction of UCA in neurosonology in 1993,<sup>88</sup> the application of UCA in this field has considerably increased. Common applications employing UCA include transcranial ultrasound studies in patients with severe hyperostosis of the skull, quantification of internal carotid stenosis in the presence of calcification, imaging of the carotid plaque angiogenesis<sup>89</sup> and brain perfusion.<sup>90, 91</sup>

## Fundamental properties of ultrasound contrast agents

UCA used before commercial manufacture of UCA, i.e. agitated saline or dyes, tended to be large (>10  $\mu$ m). Current UCA are comparable in size to red blood cells (2-6  $\mu$ m), and are thereby able to pass through the lung capillary, arrive into the left ventricle, and be delivered to the intracranial vasculature. The behavior of UCA

within the ultrasound beam is complex and depends on several factors including shell composition, transmit frequency, and transmit power. The large difference between the acoustic impedance of plasma and the encapsulated gas generates much stronger echoes than those produced by RBC.92 Gaseous microbubbles insonated by the ultrasound beam are forced to oscillate - contracting during the positive part of the ultrasound wave cycle and expanding during the negative part of the cycle. The degree of scattering and oscillation is maximum if the ultrasonic wave is at the resonant frequency of the microbubbles.<sup>85</sup> The microbubble resonance frequency depends on the size of microbubbles and lies within the clinical diagnostic frequency range of ultrasound. The reaction of microbubbles varies also according to the acoustic pressure ( $p_r$ ). At low acoustic pressure ( $p_r < 0.1$  megaPascal [MPa]), the majority of microbubbles oscillates symmetrically in the ultrasound beam, contracting during the positive part of the cycle and expanding during the negative part of the cycle. The scattered ultrasound signal from the microbubble will therefore be the same as the ultrasound wave sent from the probe (incident wave). This is known as linear behavior. As the acoustic pressure increases  $(0.1 \le p_r \le 1.4 \text{ MPa})$ , the expansion of the bubble during the negative phase will be different from the compression in the positive phase. During the negative phase, the bubble's radius can increase by as much as several hundred percent. During the positive phase, the gas inside the bubble rapidly stiffens as the molecules are forced closer together, and makes the bubble less compressible. This results in an asymmetric nonlinear bubble oscillation, which produces an echo with asymmetric top and bottom, instead of a sinusoidal echo. This asymmetry in the scattered ultrasound wave produces harmonics which can be exploited to differentiate the bubbles signals from the surrounding tissue. At even higher acoustic pressure ( $p_r \ge 1.4$  MPa), the shell of the microbubbles may rupture, and release the gas from microbubble. The resulting free gas bubbles will strongly scatter ultrasound. However, they will rapidly dissolve into the bloodstream and will therefore only be visualized in few ultrasound frames. This strong interaction between the microbubbles and the high pressure ultrasound pulse will result in a scattered wave with a wide range of frequency components. Acoustic pressure is therefore an important parameter when performing contrast-enhanced ultrasound. This parameter is not displayed by ultrasound scanners. However, the mechanical index (MI) can be used as an indicator of the likelihood of bubble rupture because MI is proportional to the acoustic pressure:  $MI = p_r / \sqrt{f}$ , where  $p_r$  is the peak rarefaction pressure of the ultrasound wave *in situ* (peak negative pressure) and *f* is the ultrasound frequency.

#### Contrast-enhanced transcranial ultrasound

Excessive signal attenuation by the skull occurs in 5% to 25% of patients.93, 94 UCA overcome this limitation in almost all patients with poor transtemporal window.95 The introduction of UCA therefore rendered possible otherwise failed Doppler exams.<sup>96</sup> UCA are administered intravenously either as bolus injection or as continuous infusion. UCA bolus injection results in a wash-in-wash-out enhancement curve characterized by a rapid increase and a short peak of strong enhancement, with subsequent decay over a few minutes. The duration of diagnostically useful enhancement is therefore relatively short (2-5 minutes), and blooming commonly occurs.<sup>97</sup> Blooming is an undesired saturation artifact compromising image quality and hindering Doppler measurement. It occurs when the intensity of the backscattered signal is too high, and is characterized by a false colour Doppler signal which extends outside the actual width of the vessel and covers most part of the Doppler sector. Blooming occurs commonly during the peak of contrast-enhancement after UCA bolus injection or if the rate of UCA continuous infusion is too high. Proper UCA continuous infusion prolongs the enhancement duration, avoids saturation artifacts, and provide a constant plateau of enhancement throughout the duration of infusion. In patients with poor transtemporal bone window, a stable and diagnostically useful enhancement contrast enhancement is reached by 0.4-0.5 ml/minute infusion rate and kept for 10-12.5 minutes. UCA continuous infusion should therefore be considered the method of choice.

Another pitfall related to UCA is an artificial increase in measured blood flow velocity (BFV). This phenomenon has been observed in studies administering UCA in patients with optimal transtemporal bone window and comparing the BFV measured before and after bolus injection.<sup>98, 99</sup> A 20–24 % increase in measured peak systolic velocity (PSV) after UCA bolus injection has been reported.<sup>98, 99</sup> The reason for the UCA-related increase in measured BFV remains unclear and still debated. Possible explanations will be presented and discussed in the "Discussion" section. The artificial increase in measured BFV caused by UCA implies diagnostic and clinical consequences. Current neurosonographic diagnostic criteria for intracranial stenosis are based on threshold BFV.<sup>80, 82</sup> A falsely elevated BFV will therefore lead to false positive cases or overestimation of the degree of the intracranial stenosis.

## Ultrasound measurement of the cerebral blood flow

Transcranial ultrasound provides reliable measurements of blood flow velocity (BFV) which are accurate in detection of intracranial stenosis and occlusion.<sup>80, 82, 100</sup> BFV may be used as a surrogate of cerebral blood flow volume. Relationship between BFV and cerebral blood flow volume is defined by the formula F = V \* A, where F is the cerebral blood flow volume, V is the BFV, and A is the area of the cerebral vessels. If the area is constant, flow volume and velocity change proportionally. However, cerebral arteries are extremely reactive and changes in the vascular bed make BFV no longer directly proportional to the cerebral blood flow volume. Thus, it is challenging to interpret changes in velocity without knowledge of the area of the vascular bed. TCCS provides anatomical visualization of the brain in the brightness-mode (B-Mode). The resolution with this technology is, however, too poor to provide sufficient anatomical information of the intracranial vessels. However, it has long been known that blood flow volume can be estimated by analyzing the Doppler spectrum.<sup>101</sup> Blood velocity measurements are based on the Doppler shift. The Doppler spectrum is the

result of many red blood cells (RBC) moving in the Doppler sample volume at different velocity. The received ultrasound signal therefore contains not just one frequency, but a spectrum of frequencies. Despite moving at different velocities, the received signal from each RBC has equal power. The power of the reflected Doppler signal is thus proportional to the number of RBC, and to the cross-sectional area of Doppler sample volume. Considering that 1) blood flow velocity may be expressed by Doppler shift frequency, 2) the power of the reflected Doppler signal is proportional to the cross-sectional area and 3) F = V \* A (see above), an estimation of the blood flow volume, expressed as a flow index, can be calculated from the weighted sum of each Doppler frequency (fi), and the corresponding power signal (Pi), i.e. flow index (FI) =  $\Sigma$  fi \* Pi. The flow index does not provide an absolute value of the cerebral blood flow but a series of instantaneous estimations which may detect relative changes in flow volume. Once the flow index has been calculated, an estimation of the cross-sectional area (area index, AI) may be derived by the formula: AI = FI / V. However, several factors may distort the insonating ultrasound beam and the reflected Doppler signal, and hinder the correct calculation of the flow index. The major disturbing factor is represented by the heterogeneity of tissues lying between the transducer and the vessel, and most specifically the temporal bone, which causes attenuation and refraction of the ultrasound beam and non-uniform insonation of the vessel.102, 103

The development of a feasible and reliable estimation of the blood flow volume may have important clinical applications and is therefore a focus for continuous research.

# List of publications

This thesis is based on the following papers:

- I Logallo N, Naess H, Waje-Andreassen U, Thomassen L.
  Intracranial Atherosclerosis in Norway. Preliminary Results from the Norwegian – Intracranial Atherosclerosis Study.
   Submitted
- II Logallo N, Lind J, Naess H, Idicula TT, Brogger J, Waje-Andreassen U, Thomassen L.

Middle Cerebral Artery Stenosis: Transcranial Color-Coded Sonography based on Continuity Equation versus CT-Angiography. Ultraschall in der Medizin. E-print August 2012

- III Logallo N, Fromm A, Waje-Andreassen U, Thomassen L, Matre K.
  Effect of Microbubble Contrast on Intracranial Blood Flow Velocity assessed by Transcranial Doppler.
   Submitted
- IV Wallace S, Logallo N, Faiz KW, Lund C, Brucher R, Russell D.
  Relative Blood Flow Changes Measured using Calibrated Doppler
  Spectral Power at varying Hematocrit Levels: an *in vitro* Study.
  Submitted

## Aims of the thesis

- To assess the prevalence of symptomatic and asymptomatic intracranial atherosclerosis in a Norwegian, community-based, ischemic stroke and TIA population. We hypothesized a relative low prevalence of intracranial atherosclerosis. This hypothesis is discusses in Paper I
- To assess the diagnostic performance of an ultrasonographic method based on continuity equation in detection and grading of intracranial stenosis, with CTA as reference method.

We hypothesized the continuity equation method to be superior to the cut-off velocity method in detection of intracranial stenosis. This hypothesis is discussed in Paper II.

 To assess the effect of both UCA continuous infusion and gain reduction on transcranial Doppler measurements of blood flow velocity.

We hypothesized that UCA continuous infusion leads to an increase in measured blood flow velocity and that optimal gain reduction is able to restore the blood flow velocity measured at baseline. This hypothesis is discussed in Paper III.

4. To assess whether analysis of Doppler spectrum signal may detect relative changes in blood flow volume.

We hypothesized that a flow index calculated from the weighted sum of each Doppler frequency and the corresponding power signal detects relative changes in blood flow volume. This hypothesis is discussed in Paper IV

# **Material and Methods**

The data for papers I, II, III were obtained from a cohort of the Bergen NORSTROKE study. The study period was 18 months for paper I and 10 months for paper II. All patients with diagnosed ischemic stroke or TIA were included in Paper I. Patients with intracranial stenosis undergoing both CT-angiography (CTA) and transcranial color-coded sonography (TCCS) were included in paper II. Ten patients with TIA or minor stroke with normal CTA were included in paper III.

The data for paper IV were obtained from *in vitro* experiments on a closed-loop phantom. *In vitro* experiments were carried out at the Department of Medical Engineering, Hochschule Ulm, University of Applied Sciences, Ulm, Germany.

## Bergen NORSTROKE study

The Bergen NORSTROKE study is a prospective study which includes all ischemic stroke and TIA patients admitted to the Centre for Neurovascular Diseases, Department of Neurology, Haukeland University Hospital, Bergen, which serves a well-defined population of 244 170 inhabitants.<sup>104</sup> After obtaining patient-signed informed consent, demographical and clinical data, laboratory and radiological findings and outcome were registered. The study was approved by the local ethics committee.

### **Diagnostic work-up**

In paper I, II, and III, the patients diagnostic work-up included ECG, Holter monitoring, echocardiography, and extracranial Duplex ultrasonography. Intimamedia thickness was measured in the right distal carotid common artery. Extracranial carotid artery stenosis was defined as <50% or  $\ge50\%$  based on percentage of area reduction at ultrasonography. A multimodal, non-invasive approach including TCCS, CTA and MR-Angiography (MRA) was chosen to investigate the presence of ICAS.

#### Transcranial color-coded sonography

TCCS was performed in all patients on the day after admission (day 1). All TCCS examinations were performed by the Ph.D. candidate (N.L.) using a S5-1 probe (iU22, Phillips Medical Systems, Bothell, WA, USA). The intracranial internal carotid artery (ICA), the middle cerebral artery (M1 and M2 segments), the anterior cerebral artery (A1 and A2 segments) and the posterior cerebral artery (P1 and P2 segments) were insonated by the transtemporal bone window bilaterally. Peak systolic velocity (PSV) was measured from the origin to the distal part of each segment with a 2 mm sample volume, a stepwise depth decrement of 1 mm, and a stepwise optimal angle correction of Doppler sampling. The localization of the Doppler sample volume was confirmed by updating the color flow image at every step.

### Transcranial Doppler and contrast-enhanced transcranial Doppler

With the patient in supine position, TCD examinations were performed using a 2 MHz probe (Companion III Nicolet Vascular, Madison, WI, USA) secured to the patient's head using a head band. The right MCA was insonated with a 15-mm sample volume centered at 52 mm insonation depth. SonoVue (Bracco, Italy), a microbubble contrast agent containing sulphur hexafluoride gas stabilized by phospholipids, was used as ultrasound contrast agent (UCA). UCA was administered via antecubital fossa venous access using an infusion pump (VueJect, Bracco, Italy).

## CT and CTA

CT was performed in all patients on admission. If not contraindicated, CTA was performed on admission in patients admitted within 6 hours from stroke symptoms,

whereas in patients admitted after 6 hours from stroke symptoms CTA was performed if TCCS and/or MRA identified ICAS. The CT scanners used were GE Lightspeed Ultra or Toshiba Aquillion 64. Contrast injection rate was 5 ml/s iv with a total contrast volume of 80 ml for the GE Lightspeed ultra and 70 ml for the Toshiba Aquillion 64. Either Visipac 320 mg/ml or Iomeron 350 mg/ml was used in all cases. The same intracranial segments investigated with TCCS were evaluated with CTA for stenosis and occlusions. All measurements were done using AGFA IMPAX 4.5 workstation for 3D reconstructions with volume rendering technique to aid in detection and characterization of stenosis.

After identification of a candidate stenosis, reduction in luminal caliber was documented on the 2D grayscale MPR images. Prestenotic  $(D_p)$  and intrastenotic  $(D_i)$  diameters were measured by an electronic ruler. Percent stenosis was calculated as:  $[1-(D_i/D_p) \times 100]\%$ .<sup>71</sup> All image interpretation and measurements were made by a neuroradiologist (J.L.) who was aware of the presence of stenosis, but was blinded to site and degree of stenosis. CTA represented the reference method in Paper II.

#### MRI and MRA

Diffusion weighted MRI and time-of-flight MRA were performed as part of a routine MRI protocol for stroke patients on Siemens Magnetom 1.5 Tesla (Symphony) in all patients on day 1 if not contraindicated. The investigated arterial segments were the same as for TCCS and CTA. The degree of stenosis was defined following the WASID method<sup>72</sup> and grouped into <50% and  $\geq$ 50%.

# Diagnostic criteria for intracranial stenosis and intracranial atherosclerosis

CTA and MRA diagnostic criteria for intracranial stenosis (IS) used in paper I and II have been presented in the CT-CTA and MRI-MRA section.

An IS was indicated by a focal increase in blood flow velocity (BFV). The focal increase in BFV was defined as  $[1-(PSV_{prestenotic}/PSV_{intrastenotic}) \times 100]\%$ ;<sup>105</sup> PSV = peak systolic velocity. This formula has been derived from the continuity equation principle.<sup>69</sup> The diagnostic threshold for IS was set at 26%. Each stenosis was therefore defined as percent area reduction between 26% and 99%. PSV<sub>intrastenotic</sub> was defined as the highest velocity measured in the area of focal velocity increase. PSV<sub>prestenotic</sub> was defined as the most distal velocity measurement before focal velocity increase.

IS were also divided in < or  $\ge$ 50% stenosis according to three different methods: a) continuity equation, i.e.  $[1 - (PSV_{prestenotic}/PSV_{intrastenotic}) \times 100]$ %; b) published and widely used<sup>82</sup> velocity cut-off values which define stenosis as <50% if PSV<sub>intrastenotic</sub>  $\ge$ 155 cm/s and <220 cm/s, or as  $\ge$ 50% if PSV<sub>intrastenotic</sub>  $\ge$ 220 cm/s; c) cut-off velocity value which provided the highest sensitivity and specificity for MCA stenosis  $\ge$ 50% in our study, i.e. 180 cm/s. IS was diagnosed if detected by either TCCS, CTA or MRA.

IS was considered atherosclerotic (ICAS) if possible or probable cardioembolic causes or other defined causes (e.g. vasculitis, dissection) were ruled out by clinical and diagnostic work-up. ICAS was considered symptomatic if located in the arterial segment supplying the infarct area.

## In vitro closed-loop phantom

The *in vitro* experiments investigating the feasibility and reliability of a software designed to calculate a flow index from the sum of frequency-weighted calculations of the Doppler power (page 27-28) were performed using a closed-loop system of silicon tubes containing saline and human whole blood.

Blood was obtained from the local transfusion bank, having exceeded its clinical usage date the previous day. Forward flow was generated using a digital roller pump, (Ismatec, MCP Process Pump, Glattburg, Switzerland). The blood was heparinized, kept in constant flow and continuously filtered using a micro-filter to prevent contamination by either gas bubbles or solid micro-particles. A Windkessel function was built into the system. A constant temperature of 32°C was maintained within the closed-loop system by passing the tubes through a heated water bath and the temperature was monitored using a digital thermometer (BBC, Goerz metrawatt, M4051, Austria).

Four different silicone tubes with inner diameters of 1.5, 2, 3 and 4 mm and a wall thickness of 0.5 mm were insonated with a 2 MHz TCD probe (DWL Compumedics, Singen, Germany). Each of the four tubes was insonated through a 5 mm thick Plexiglas and a water bath, and examined with constant power and gain settings. The probe was secured at a 45° angle of insonation with a specially designed Plexiglas holder. The sample volume length and the insonation depth were varied until the maximum Doppler power signal was obtained. By maximizing the received signal power, it can be assumed that the maximum beam intensity lies within the central region of the parabolic flow in the tube being insonated, i.e. the area of highest flow velocities. Maximizing the signal power is also necessary to ensure that the insonating beam intensity distribution is approximately equal for each tube studied. The high-pass frequency filter was set to a standard setting of 100 Hz. Frequency-weighted first

moment calculations of the Doppler power were made using specifically designed software. The measurements were recorded and averaged over a ten second period. Calculated flow index and velocity values were then vertically shifted to pass through the zero intercept with a velocity value of zero corresponding to flow index value of zero (off-set corrected). To enable calculation of relative changes (percentage) in both flow and area indices the flow index value in the largest tube (4 mm diameter) was designated to be 100%. Flow index measurements were made at flow rates of 150, 240 and 320 ml/min.

Heparinized whole blood with an initial hematocrit (Hct) value of approximately 60% was used for all recordings. The closed-loop system was initially filled with 0.9% saline and all gas bubbles removed. Heparinized whole blood was added gradually to the system and the saline removed. Extreme care was taken not to introduce gas bubbles as blood was injected. Blood was allowed to flow through the system for at least 3 minutes before recordings. Increasing Hct values were measured directly using a centrifuge (Hemokrit 4, Lic Instruments, Stockholm, Sweden) and Hct graph (Heræus sepatech, Osterode/Harz, Germany). Doppler measurements were then carried out at the 3 different flow rates above and at Hct values of 10, 20, 29 and 42%. The Hct value was controlled at the end of each set of recordings for each flow value, to ensure it had not fallen.
## **Results**

### Prevalence of intracranial atherosclerosis (Paper I)

The prevalence of intracranial atherosclerosis was calculated by screening 607 consecutive ischemic stroke or TIA patients which were admitted to our Neurovascular Centre over an 18-month study period. MRA was performed in 533 (87.8%) and CTA in 227 patients (37.4%). TCCS was performed in all patients and a fair/good transtemporal bone was found in 485 patients (79.9%). At least one vascular imaging method was available in 575 patients (94.7%). Out of the 607 patients admitted with an ischemic event, 562 had ischemic stroke and 45 TIA. Intracranial stenosis was found in 54 patients (8.9%; 95% CI: 6.6% - 11.1%). Seven patients presenting intracranial stenosis had a possible or probable cardioembolic cause, and intracranial atherosclerosis was therefore diagnosed in the remaining 47 patients (7.7%; 95% CI: 5.6% - 9.8%). ICAS was symptomatic in 30 patients (4.9%; 95% CI: 3.2% - 6.7%). Concomitant asymptomatic ICAS was found in 13 of the 30 patients with symptomatic ICAS.

The total number of ICAS lesions was 69, 30 symptomatic and 39 asymptomatic. Among the symptomatic lesions, 8 (27%) were <50%, 20 (66%) were 50-69%, and 2 (7%) were  $\geq$ 70%. Among the asymptomatic lesions, 22 (56%) were <50%, 17 (44%) were 50-69%, and none was  $\geq$ 70%. Moderate-high degree of stenosis ( $\geq$ 50%) was significantly associated with symptomatic ICAS (OR 7.27; 95% CI: 1.63-32.41; p<0.01). Diabetes mellitus was the only risk factor significantly associated with symptomatic ICAS (OR 2.55; 95% CI: 1.03-6.31, p=0.04).

# Diagnostic performance of transcranial color-coded sonography (Paper II)

Screening for intracranial stenosis was performed on 278 consecutive patients with adequate transtemporal bone window and confirmed ischemic stroke or TIA over a 10-month study period. At least one M1 or M2-MCA stenosis was diagnosed in 25 patients (9%) by the continuity equation TCCS method. Four patients were excluded because of contraindication to CTA. Twenty-one patients matched the inclusion criteria [14 men, 7 women; age (±SD) 74.2 years (12.3)]. All stenosis were confirmed by CTA. The 21 patients included into the study presented 40 MCA stenoses, 29 in the M1 and 11 in the M2 segments.

#### TCCS continuity equation method vs CTA

The overall correlation coefficient for degree of MCA stenosis between TCCS and CTA was 0.85 (p<0.0001), Figure 3.





The overall correlation coefficient for M1 stenosis was 0.87 (p<0.0001), and for M2 stenosis 0.71 (p<0.01). Correlation coefficient for MCA stenosis defined with CTA as  $\geq$ 50% was 0.94 (p<0.0001).

#### Continuity equation vs cut-off velocity method

Continuity equation method showed a sensitivity of 78% (14/18) and a specificity of 86% (19/22) in detection of  $\geq$ 50% MCA (M1 and M2) stenosis. Cut-off velocity method based on previously published criteria,<sup>82</sup> showed a sensitivity of 50% (9/18) and a specificity of 91% (20/22) in detection of  $\geq$ 50% MCA stenosis, and failed to detect 16 stenoses, 4 defined by CTA as  $\geq$ 50% and 12 as <50%. The most accurate PSV<sub>intrastenotic</sub> value for detection  $\geq$ 50% MCA stenosis in our patients cohort was 180 cm/s and provided a sensitivity of 67% (12/18) and a specificity of 86% (19/22). When only M1 was considered, continuity equation method showed a sensitivity of 85% (11/13) and a specificity of 81% (13/16) in detection of  $\geq$ 50% M1 stenosis. Cut-off velocity method based on previously published criteria,<sup>82</sup> showed a sensitivity of 54% (7/13) and a specificity of 94% (15/16) in detection of  $\geq$ 50% M1 stenosis, and failed to detect 12 stenoses, 2 defined by CTA as  $\geq$ 50% and 10 as <50%. The most accurate PSV<sub>intrastenotic</sub> value for detection of  $\geq$ 50% M1 stenosis was 180 cm/s and provided a sensitivity of 77% (10/13) and a specificity of 86% (14/16).

# Effect of ultrasound contrast agents on velocity measurements (Paper III)

Ten patients were examined (8 male; median age 56.5 years; age range 35-67 y). Blood flow velocity (BFV) measured during UCA infusion with no gain adjustment was significantly higher than baseline BFV (PSV:  $85.1 \pm 19.7$  vs.  $74.4 \pm 19.7$  cm/s, p<0.0001; MV:  $56.5 \pm 11.8$  vs.  $50.2 \pm 12.3$  cm/s, p<0.0001). The percent increase in measured PSV was  $16 \pm 9\%$  (range 6-33), and the percent increase in measured MV

was  $14 \pm 10\%$  (range 4-33). BFV measured during UCA infusion with gain reduction was not significantly higher than baseline BFV (PSV:  $74.3 \pm 18.9$  vs.  $74.4 \pm 19.4$  cm/s, p=0.8; MV:  $49.4 \pm 11.0$  vs.  $50.2 \pm 12.3$  cm/s, p=0.8). No artefact hindering velocity measurement was noted during the recordings.

## In vitro blood flow volume measurements (Paper IV)

The correlation between the calculated flow index (FI) against the absolute flow was strong for each tube size at each hematocrit (Hct) values (r>0.98, p=0.01).



Figure 4. Correlation between the calculated flow index and the absolute flow

The correlation between the calculated area index (AI) against the absolute crosssectional area (CSA) was strong for each absolute flow volume at each Hct values (r>0.99) (Figure 5).

The effect of varying Hct on flow index is shown in Figure 6.





#### Figure 6. Relationship between the flow index and hematocrit



## Discussion

# Prevalence of Intracranial Atherosclerosis in ischemic stroke and TIA patients

The focus on intracranial atherosclerosis (ICAS) has dramatically increased over the last two decades, and it is now settled that ICAS is one of the leading causes of ischemic stroke and TIA worldwide.<sup>11</sup> Several studies have shown that the prevalence of ICAS is strongly influenced by ethnicity. In Asian ischemic stroke patients, ICAS is found in up to half of the cases,<sup>11, 106-109</sup> and in African Americans and Hispanics in 6% and 11% respectively.<sup>12</sup> In Caucasians, the prevalence of ICAS varies from 1% in White-American<sup>12</sup> to 12.4% in Spanish ischemic stroke patients.<sup>15</sup> Studies from Netherland and Germany reported a prevalence of symptomatic ICAS in ischemic stroke patients of 3% and 6.5% respectively.<sup>13, 110</sup>

Asians are at the highest risk to develop ICAS, and predisposition toward hypoadiponectinemia in this ethnicity may represent a possible explanation.<sup>111</sup> Adiponectin is an adipose tissue-specific cytokine found to be reduced in obesity, diabetes mellitus type 2, insulin resistance, hyperlipidemia, metabolic syndrome, and cardiovascular diseases.<sup>112, 113</sup> Adiponectin appears to have a protective role against atherosclerosis by inhibiting neointimal formation and suppressing the expression of inflammatory cytokines and adhesion molecules.<sup>114</sup> Asians appear to have lower adiponectin levels than Caucasian subjects of similar age, body mass index and total adiposity.<sup>111</sup> Low adiponectin levels may therefore play an important pathogenic role in development on atherosclerosis, but it is still unclear why low adiponectin levels may selectively lead to atherosclerosis in the intracranial vessels.

It is also unclear why there is a discrepancy in ICAS prevalence among patients from different European countries. The heterogeneity in diagnostic criteria, imaging modalities and study populations may be a possible explanation. Diagnostic performance in detection of ICAS varies not only between different modalities, but also within a specific modality depending on technique, setting and/or diagnostic criteria. Diagnostic performance also depends on the investigated vascular territory. MRA and ultrasonography both have lower sensitivity in detection of ICAS in the posterior circulation, especially in the vertebrobasilar system, compared to the anterior circulation,<sup>81, 115</sup> and CTA should be considered the posterior circulation gold standard in absence of DSA. It may therefore be expected that studies using different modalities will report discordant results about the distribution of ICAS lesions in the anterior and the posterior circulation. However, there are few and inconclusive data answering this hypothesis. One ultrasonographic based study has shown that the 72% of symptomatic ICAS lesions were located in the anterior circulation, versus 62% reported by one CTA based study.<sup>110</sup> This difference was due to the more frequently

detected ICAS lesion in the posterior cerebral artery by CTA (12.5% vs 4.7%), whereas the percent of vertebrobasilar stenosis was similar between the studies (CTA 25%; TCD 23%).

In our cohort of patients, ~8% presented at least one ICAS and ~5% had symptomatic ICAS. Our results are not directly comparable with other studies since the vertebrobasilar system was not investigated. However, assuming a 25% rate of symptomatic ICAS in the vertebrobasilar system, as suggested by earlier studies,<sup>32, 110</sup> a prevalence of symptomatic ICAS of 6.4% could be expected in our population, which is in line with a study from Germany (6.5%)<sup>34</sup> (Table 3). In our study, the diagnosis of ICAS did not require confirmation by a reference method if one of the three modalities detected ICAS, and low-grade symptomatic stenoses (<50%) were also included. This approach may theoretically overestimate the prevalence of symptomatic ICAS. However, our results are lower than results from studies in Southern Europe (9.2 and 12.4%).<sup>15, 32</sup> These studies may have underestimated the

prevalence of ICAS because of methodological design (e.g. TCD based studies excluding patients with poor transtemporal bone window, and requiring confirmation of  $\geq$ 50% stenosis with MRA/CTA). Methodological variability among European studies may therefore not fully explain the regional differences in prevalence of symptomatic ICAS.

		Greece <sup>+</sup>		Bergen	
	n=43	%	n=49*	%	
M1	15	35	14	40	
M2	6	14	5	15	
Anterior	2	5	0	0	
ICA	8	18	4	12	
Posterior	2	5	7	20	
Vertebral	6	14	5.4*	14	
Basilar	4	9	3.6*	9	
Total ICAS prevalence		9.2%		6.4*%	

Table 3. Distribution of ICAS lesions in a Greek study and our study

\* Values estimated by the prevalence of vertebrobasilar stenosis reported in the Greek study<sup>†</sup>.

+ Tsivgoulis G, J Neuroimaging. 2012

Community-based or hospital-based studies performed in the western part of the world have not distinguished between ischemic stroke and TIA patients when calculating the prevalence of ICAS. One study from China<sup>9</sup> has detected ICAS in ~50% of TIA patients, thus suggesting that the prevalence of ICAS may not differ between TIA and ischemic stroke patients. In our cohort of patients with acute cerebral ischemia screened for ICAS, 45 had TIA, of which 5 (11%) presented ICAS and 2 (4.5%) symptomatic ICAS. Although the limited sample size does not allow to draw definite conclusion, ICAS may occur equally in both ischemic stroke and TIA patients also in a Caucasian population.

## **Diagnosis of Intracranial Atherosclerosis**

The Consensus Conference on Intracranial Atherosclerotic Disease held in 2009<sup>116</sup> suggested to use the term "intracranial atherosclerosis" for lesions defined by autopsy studies, and "intracranial stenosis" for lesions defined by other methods.<sup>117</sup> Even though both clinical and autopsy studies have the same object of investigation, i.e. the intracranial plaque, intracranial atherosclerosis is still an exclusion diagnosis when based on vascular imaging. Routine diagnostic methods, i.e. digital subtraction angiography, CTA, MRA and ultrasound are accurate in defining intracranial stenosis but are not able to visualize the intracranial atherosclerotic plaque. Emerging methods for non-invasive visualization of the intracranial atherosclerotic plaque, such as high-resolution MRI (HR MRI)<sup>118</sup> and intravascular ultrasound,<sup>119</sup> are promising but seldom available.

There is no consensus on the criteria which intracranial stenosis must fulfill to be defined as atherosclerotic, nor any studies comparing the accuracy of the imaging diagnosis of intracranial atherosclerosis with the "real" gold standard, i.e. autopsy. Inspired by the TOAST classification,<sup>120</sup> most studies have defined as atherosclerotic those intracranial stenoses which were  $\geq$ 50%, with negative work-up for cardiac embolism, no severe extracranial stenosis, and no other possible etiology for the stenosis, e.g. MoyaMoya disease, vasculitis, or dissection.<sup>13, 14, 121-124</sup> This approach has some limitations. Intracranial stenoses <50% are excluded because considered as "non-significant".<sup>120</sup> However, evidences from both cardiac and carotid atherosclerosis have shown that several histological and morphological characteristics of the plaque, such as large lipid core, thin fibrous cap, and plaque vascularization, may predict plaque rupture independently from the degree of stenosis.<sup>89, 125, 126</sup> Even though an accurate grading of the intracranial stenosis is important in risk stratification of patients,<sup>127</sup> it is incorrect to consider a low-grade stenosis as a nonthreatening lesion. In our study,  $\sim 30\%$  of patients with symptomatic intracranial atherosclerosis presented lesions which were < 50%.

Detection of low-grade stenosis is not free of pitfalls and challenges. Intracranial vessels have smaller diameter and are less accessible than extracranial arteries, and the resolution of non-invasive method may not be high enough to detect minor irregularities of the vessel wall.<sup>128</sup> However, applying continuity equation to transcranial ultrasonography may ensure detection of low-grade stenosis. The continuity equation states that each reduction in the area of the vessel corresponds to a change in blood flow velocity. In theory, even the smallest stenoses should be detectable by ultrasound. In practice however, it is not possible to differentiate between physiological and pathologically velocity changes if the changes are small, since tortuosity, bifurcation, and perforating arteries may lead to physiological increase in velocity. We therefore set the minimal detectable area reduction at 26%, which corresponds to ~35% focal increase in velocity. All low-grade stenoses detected by TCCS applying the continuity equation were confirmed by CTA, suggesting that this method is highly accurate. However, remodeling of arteries may limit the accuracy of this method.<sup>129</sup> This phenomenon, described originally in coronary arteries, consists of a compensatory enlargement of the vessel wall which allows the plaque to grow outward without compromising neither vessel lumen nor blood flow velocity.

In our patients cohort, 14 out of 114 (12.3%) patients with atrial fibrillation (AF) presented >50% extracranial stenosis (ES). Atherosclerosis is therefore not uncommon in patients with AF. In case of AF and ES, atherosclerosis is easily recognizable with ultrasound, and diffusion-weighted MRI may often help to define which of the two is the probable underlying cause of ischemic stroke. An intracranial stenosis in patients with AF may represent either a recanalizing cardiac thrombus or an intracranial plaque. Excluding *a priori* patients with AF may therefore underestimate the number of ICAS lesions. However, it is difficult to differentiate

between these two conditions with the currently available routine modalities. The detection of rapidly improving stenosis at daily ultrasonographic follow-up may suggest the presence of a recanalizing thrombus, whereas a more "stable" lesion may indicate the presence of ICAS.

It is also challenging to define whether ICAS lesions are symptomatic or not. Our current understanding of the intracranial plaque is limited by the absence of standardized methods to detect plaque instability, and is still based on indirect clues, such as the location of intracranial stenosis and infarct, and the exclusion of other plausible causes. One case-report has shown that HR MRI may visualize intraplaque hemorrhage in an intracranial plaque.<sup>130</sup> Another study investigating a possible role of gadolinium plaque enhancement in patients with severe MCA stenosis, failed to show that plaque enhancement is a marker of symptomatic or unstable plaque.<sup>131</sup> However, the small sample of the study (n=6) does not permit definite conclusions.

A hopefully higher availability of HR MRI in the future will 1) increase the sensibility of non-invasive method in detecting intracranial plaque, especially in an early stadium, 2) detect non-stenosing plaque, i.e. plaque undergoing remodeling, 3) ensure a better understanding of plaque stability, and 4) help to differentiate a recanalizing cardiac embolus from an *in situ* atherosclerotic plaque.

## Role of ultrasound in the diagnosis of intracranial stenosis

Transcranial ultrasonography is a non-invasive, bed-side, convenient, and inexpensive modality for the evaluation of the intracranial arteries.<sup>132</sup> Diagnostic criteria for intracranial stenosis are based on the detection of blood flow velocity (BFV) exceeding predefined "normal" velocity values. As shown in Tables 1 and 2, threshold values appear to provide high diagnostic performance. However, these results may not reflect the actual diagnostic performance of TCD and TCCS in an

unselected ischemic stroke population. Most studies are affected by selection and verification bias, as well as publication bias in favor of the best results. The most common verification bias is represented by the availability of the reference method only in patients were TCD or TCCS suspected pathology. There is also a considerable difference between studies performed in the early 1990s,<sup>80</sup> reporting high diagnostic performance values, and more recent studies,<sup>24, 81</sup> showing lower values, and in particularly very low positive predictive values (PPV) (36%).<sup>24</sup> There are very few studies which have tested TCCS against DSA and current TCCS diagnostic criteria for intracranial stenosis are mainly based on one study performed in the late 1990s<sup>82</sup> reporting 100% sensitivity, specificity, PPV and negative predictive values of threshold velocity  $\geq$ 220 cm/s (PSV) for detection of  $\geq$ 50% MCA stenosis. Both selection and verification bias may have led to such extremely good results. Patients included in that study had symptomatic ICAS detected at TCCS (degree  $\geq$  50% may be assumed) and/or >70% extracranial stenosis (ES). Patients with ICAS were therefore already selected by TCCS, whereas those patients with no ICAS had  $\geq$ 70% ES, and thus low velocity in the MCA. The difference in velocity between stenotic and normal MCA may have been increased by these selection criteria.

Intracranial velocities vary among subjects depending on age, state of the extracranial arteries, hematologic and endocrine disorders. The threshold method may therefore either overlook stenosis in subjects with low intracranial velocity or provide false positive results in subjects presenting high intracranial velocities. Low intracranial velocities are often found in older patients and/or in presence of extracranial high-grade stenosis. False positive results may be found in patients with disturbed autoregulation, in conditions with general increase in blood flow volume and velocity such as arteriovenous malformations, anemia or hyperthyreosis, and in case of improper angle correction or use of ultrasound contrast agents. The use of absolute threshold values may therefore be misleading because it does not take into account cerebral hemodynamics as a whole. Other hemodynamic aspects, such as flow direction, pre- intra- and poststenotic velocity, comparison of velocity with the

contralateral artery and the other ipsilateral arteries, musical murmurs, bruits and pulsatility index may help in detection and characterization of the stenosis, and possibly provide better diagnostic results. An illustration of how blood flow velocity and blood flow volume are influenced by different degree of stenosis is shown in Figure 7.

#### Figure 7. Correlations between blood velocity, blood flow and stenosis grading



Adapted from Spencer MP. Stroke 1979, 10(3):326-330

This hypothetical flow model, also known as the Spencer curve,<sup>69</sup> is based on the Hagen-Poiseuille law and the continuity equation, and applies to an axis-symmetric and smooth-surface arterial stenosis in a straight vessel with no bifurcations. Although in a clinical setting most stenoses are axis-asymmetric, have irregular surface, variable length and compliance, this model represents a "milestone in understanding cerebral hemodynamics with long-lasting practical and research implications".<sup>133</sup> The curve shows that blood flow velocity increases exponentially

and reaches a top which corresponds to ~80% diameter stenosis. As long as the increase in velocity is able to keep flow volume constant, it is correct to assume that the product of the cross-sectional areas (A) time the blood velocity (V) is constant throughout the vessel, as stated by the continuity equation:  $A_1*V_1 = A_2*V_2$  (Figure 8).

#### Figure 8. The continuity principle



A = cross-sectional area PSV = peak systolic velocity

The degree of stenosis may be calculated as [1-(PSV<sub>prestenotic</sub>/ PSV<sub>intrastenotic</sub>)x100]%. This formula ensures an exact calculation of degree of stenosis, and our study (Paper II) has shown that this method is accurate when compared to CTA. Since the risk of stroke in the territory of an intracranial stenotic artery appears to be directly proportional to the severity of the stenosis,<sup>127</sup> accurate calculation of the degree of stenosis may have clinical implications. According to the continuity equation, a doubling of velocity, which may also be expressed as a ratio between intrastenotic and prestenotic velocities of 2, corresponds to 50% stenosis. A ratio  $\geq 2$  between intrastenotic and prestenotic velocity may therefore be more accurate than threshold values in detection of  $\geq$ 50% stenosis. However, a recent TCD study<sup>81</sup> has failed to show that the use velocity ratio, or the use of either ratio or threshold values, are better than threshold values alone in detection of  $\geq$ 50% MCA stenosis. This is in contrast with our study showing that the use of continuity equation has higher accuracy than threshold values in detection  $\geq$ 50% MCA stenosis. Although both studies are based on continuity equation, the use of two different ultrasound technologies, i.e. TCD vs. TCCS, may have led to discordant results. TCD based

studies mostly use mean velocities (MV), whereas TCCS based studies commonly use peak systolic velocities (PSV). *In vitro* experiments have shown that calculating the degree of stenosis with continuity equation provides the most exact results when PSV rather than MV are used.<sup>134</sup> TCCS may also provide the most accurate velocity measurements because color-coding warrants both optimal placement of small sample volume and angle correction all through the artery. Continuity equation may therefore be an excellent tool for evaluation of intracranial stenosis, but it cannot be applied to the whole spectrum of stenosis. Near occlusive stenoses are characterized by abnormal low velocity and blunted Doppler waveforms. "Low velocity findings", defined as reduction  $\geq$ 30% in MV compared to the non-stenotic side, plus the presence of blunted Doppler waveform, have been proposed as specific diagnostic criteria for these stenosis and appear to have high sensitivity.<sup>81</sup>

The continuity equation method may theoretically be applied also to other segments of the Circle of Willis. The M1 segment is often straight and almost parallel to the ultrasound beam, so that small degree of angle correction is required. However, the anatomy of the other segments creates challenges. The carotid siphon is extremely tortuous and, besides the proximal C5 segment (pars petrosa), is perpendicular to the ultrasound beam, thus not allowing angle correction (Figure 9). It is therefore not possible to achieve reliable velocity measurements throughout the length of this artery. It may be hypothesized that using velocity measurements from the corresponding contralateral siphon may be more accurate than ipsilateral prestenotic velocity measurements.

The pars precommunicalis (A1) of the anterior cerebral artery (ACA) may be difficult to visualize in one single axial plane and it may therefore be difficult to define whether velocity increase is focal or not. Ultrasound scanning in the coronal plane may visualize the siphon and the origin of both A1 and M1 in one plane, and may therefore clarify if there is a diffuse velocity increase in these segments. Velocity increase in A1 is more often due to other conditions than intracranial stenosis, such as



Figure 9. Anatomical segment of the intracranial carotid internal artery (siphon)

From Valdueza J. Neurosonology and neuroimaging of stroke. Thieme; 2008 135

contralateral internal carotid artery occlusion, stenosis in the ipsilateral C1/C2 segments, and/or near-occlusive stenosis in the ipsilateral M1. These conditions should therefore be ruled out before considering the presence of A1 stenosis.

The pars infracallosa (A2) of the ACA is usually straight and perpendicular to the ultrasound beam, and measurements in this segment must therefore be performed without angle correction. However, the low resolution of the color-mode in most of the cases does not permit to differentiate between the right and the left segments since both segments are visualize as one single segment.

Continuity equation may theoretically be applied to the P1 segment and the proximal part of P2 since they are parallel to the ultrasound beam and optimal angle correction is possible. The distal P2 segment is tortuous and does not allow angle correction. As for the siphon, using "normal" contralateral velocity may be more accurate than ipsilateral prestenotic velocity measurements.

### **Ultrasound contrast agents**

Transcranial ultrasonography is hindered by hyperostosis of the skull, a condition which most frequently occurs in elderly subjects, especially females. Due to the predominance of elderly among ischemic stroke patients, the lack of transtemporal bone window is a problem for neurosonographers working in stroke units. The rate of poor transtemporal bone window in our study population (~20%) was in line with data reported in earlier studies.<sup>93, 94</sup>

The use of modern ultrasound contrast agents (UCA) in patients with poor transtemporal bone window ensures adequate ultrasonographic examination in virtually all cases.<sup>96</sup> However, UCA bolus injection can cause a 20–24 % increase in measured peak systolic velocity (PSV),<sup>98, 99</sup> and may thereby lead to false-positive detection of intracranial stenosis (page 48).

UCA is usually administered as bolus injection. This way of administration allows short and varying contrast enhancement which often leads to artifacts, such as blooming, hindering blood flow velocity (BFV) measurements (page 26). The use of an infusion pump ensures stable and artifact-free contrast-enhancement not interfering with velocity measurements (see Paper III).

Our study has shown that UCA continuous infusion also leads to an increase (16%) in measured BFV. This increase appears to be lower than the one reported for UCA bolus injection (20–24%). However, it is not possible to compare these results because different ultrasound technologies and UCA were used.

It is strongly debated why UCA lead to an increase in measured BFV.<sup>136, 137</sup> UCA have no effects on heart rate or blood pressure,<sup>138</sup> and the increase in measured BFV is therefore not due to an increase in cardiac output induced by UCA. Microbubbles

have intrinsic properties which may influence the back scattered Doppler shift. In *vitro* studies<sup>139, 140</sup> have shown that acoustic radiation force may displace microbubbles in the ultrasound wave propagation direction and that this can produce spectral broadening.<sup>140</sup> Spectral broadening has also been observed in vitro when microbubbles are ruptured.<sup>141</sup> Although these phenomena *in vivo* may not be as evident as *in vitro*,<sup>141, 142</sup> spectral broadening may represent a mechanism behind the UCA-related increase in measured BVF.<sup>143</sup> Another possible explanation is that UCA disclose areas of the blood flow spectrum previously hidden by background noise. The laminar blood flow has a parabolic shape with few red blood cells (RBC) moving at the highest velocity. The back scattered signal from the fastest RBC may therefore be weak and not distinguishable by the background noise. By adding scatterers to the blood flow, UCA may disclose areas of the blood flow spectrum previously not measurable, such as the fastest flow lamina, but also the slowest flow lamina, and hence lead to broadening of the Doppler spectrum. This hypothesis is supported by *in* vivo studies showing that UCA lead to increase in measured BFV only in deeply located vessels,<sup>144</sup> but not in superficial vessels,<sup>145</sup> suggesting that if optimal Doppler signal intensity (DSI) is obtained, a further increase in the signal-to-noise ratio does not modify BFV, since the highest velocity lamina is already disclosed.

None of the earlier clinical studies have been able to overcome the UCA-related increase in measured BFV. In our study, gain reduction performed during stable contrast-enhancement restored the BFV measured at baseline (Figure 10). Gain was reduced so that the DSI matched the intensity of the Doppler signal recorded at baseline. This was qualitatively performed by looking at one picture of the Doppler signal saved at baseline.

It remains to demonstrate if gain reduction may restore baseline BFV also in patients with poor transtemporal window, since no information about the baseline BFV and the baseline DSI are available. Our experience with administration of UCA in patients with poor temporal bone window suggests that infusion rate of 0.4 - 0.5 ml/min

allows artifact-free visualization of the circle of Willis. The Doppler spectrum detected in such conditions has higher intensity compared to subjects with optimal transtemporal bone window and no UCA infusion. It may be hypothesized that gain reduction restoring the Doppler signal to low intensity may neutralize the effect of UCA on measured BFV also in patients with poor temporal bone during stable contrast-enhancement. This hypothesis might be tested by simulating the presence of skull hyperostosis with aluminium foil in patients with optimal transtemporal bone window.

#### Figure 10. Doppler signal at different recording phases



a) Baseline Doppler signal. Peak systolic velocity (PSV) = 53 cm/s

b) Doppler signal during UCA infusion with no gain reduction. PSV = 69 cm/s

c) Doppler signal during UCA infusion after gain reduction. PSV = 54 cm/s

### **Blood flow volume measurements**

Transcranial ultrasonography infers cerebral hemodynamics from blood flow velocity measurements. However, the relationship between blood velocities and blood volume is complex, and velocities alone may in some cases incorrectly evaluate the intracranial vessels and the cerebral blood flow volume. Flow impairment is detected by velocity only in cases of near-occlusive stenosis (Figure 7, page 49; "low findings criteria", page 51). In case of less severe stenosis (approximately >60%) velocity

alone may lead to ambiguous results for both flow volume and degree of stenosis (Figure 7). Besides the degree of intracranial stenosis, flow volume is influenced by several other factors, such as the coexistence of extracranial stenosis and the collateral status. Neither degree of stenosis nor velocities are therefore sufficient to define which stenosis causes blood flow volume impairment, i.e. "really" is significant. Measurements of the cerebral blood flow volume may therefore provide a deeper understanding of the cerebral hemodynamics and have diagnostic, therapeutic and prognostic implication in acute ischemic stroke patients.

Our study (Paper 4) has shown that blood flow volume may be accurately estimated by analysing the power Doppler and the Doppler shift. This method may detect relative changes in flow volume, but does not provide absolute flow values. One possible clinical application of this method may be represented by monitoring of the flow index before and after manoeuvres or agents inducing changes in the peripheral resistances. This may be an accurate and sensitive method to test the cerebrovascular reserve capacity (vasoreactivity) in patients with acute ischemic strokes, and also in other neurological conditions.

The feasibility and accuracy of this method depend on the quality of the Doppler signal. The advent in the near future of probes continuously and automatically searching for the optimal Doppler signal may further improve our ability to measure relative changes in blood flow volume.

# Conclusions

The epidemiological data on ICAS provided by our study add information about the prevalence and distribution of this disease in Europe. Although the prevalence of ICAS appears to be relative low, an in depth etiological and pathophysiological understanding of ischemic stroke and TIA has important clinical and prognostic consequences. Patients with ICAS have high recurrence risk (up to ~40% of the patients within a 2-year period)<sup>146</sup> and therefore need aggressive secondary medical prevention. Screening for ICAS should therefore be part of the routine work-up in all ischemic stroke and TIA patients. Transcranial color-coded sonography (TCCS) is the perfect tool to perform ICAS screening in stroke units. TCCS is inexpensive, noninvasive, and gives accurate information on the intracranial vessels. Knowledge of basic hemodynamic and physical principles is necessary to fully exploit the potential of TCCS. This work has shown that the application of continuity equation may increase the accuracy of TCCS in both detection and grading of ICAS compared to conventional diagnostic criteria. Degree of stenosis is the most important prognostic factor in ICAS patients,<sup>127</sup> and accurate grading of ICAS is therefore essential in the evaluation of these patients.

This work has also focused on patients in which optimal TCCS examination is hindered by hyperostosis of the skull. This problem occurs in 20% of ischemic stroke patients, but may be overcome in virtually all patients by ultrasound contrast agents (UCA). However, UCA cause an unexplained increase in blood flow velocity which may bias diagnostic results. This work has shown that the use of infusion pump and optimal gain reduction may overcome the undesired increase in blood flow velocity related to UCA administration.

Finally, advanced analysis of the Doppler spectrum has been investigated aiming to provide information of the cerebral hemodynamics beyond mere velocities. Our *in* 

*vitro* experiments have shown that analysis of the Doppler signal power provides reliable measurements of relative changes in blood flow volume. This may represent a first step towards a more accurate evaluation of the cerebral autoregulation, possibly providing a deeper hemodynamic understanding of the intracranial atherosclerotic plaque.

# References

- Corti R, Fuster V. New understanding, diagnosis, and prognosis of atherothrombosis and the role of imaging. *Am J Cardiol.* 2003;91:17A-26A
- Warboys CM, Amini N, de Luca A, Evans PC. The role of blood flow in determining the sites of atherosclerotic plaques. *F1000 Med Rep.* 2011;3:5
- Cecchi E, Giglioli C, Valente S, Lazzeri C, Gensini GF, Abbate R, et al. Role of hemodynamic shear stress in cardiovascular disease. *Atherosclerosis*. 2011;214:249-256
- 4. Arenillas JF. Intracranial atherosclerosis: Current concepts. Stroke. 2011;42:S20-23
- Amarenco P, Rother J, Michel P, Davis SM, Donnan GA. Aortic arch atheroma and the risk of stroke. *Current atherosclerosis reports*. 2006;8:343-346
- Mughal MM, Khan MK, DeMarco JK, Majid A, Shamoun F, Abela GS. Symptomatic and asymptomatic carotid artery plaque. *Expert review of cardiovascular therapy*. 2011;9:1315-1330
- Caplan LR, Gorelick PB, Hier DB. Race, sex and occlusive cerebrovascular disease: A review. *Stroke*. 1986;17:648-655
- Wong KS, Li H, Chan YL, Ahuja A, Lam WW, Wong A, et al. Use of transcranial doppler ultrasound to predict outcome in patients with intracranial large-artery occlusive disease. *Stroke*. 2000;31:2641-2647
- Huang YN, Gao S, Li SW, Huang Y, Li JF, Wong KS, et al. Vascular lesions in chinese patients with transient ischemic attacks. *Neurology*. 1997;48:524-525
- Liu HM, Tu YK, Yip PK, Su CT. Evaluation of intracranial and extracranial carotid steno-occlusive diseases in taiwan chinese patients with mr angiography: Preliminary experience. *Stroke*. 1996;27:650-653

- Gorelick PB, Wong KS, Bae HJ, Pandey DK. Large artery intracranial occlusive disease: A large worldwide burden but a relatively neglected frontier. *Stroke*. 2008;39:2396-2399
- Sacco RL, Kargman DE, Gu Q, Zamanillo MC. Race-ethnicity and determinants of intracranial atherosclerotic cerebral infarction. The northern manhattan stroke study. *Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation*. 1995;26:14-20
- Weimar C, Goertler M, Harms L, Diener HC. Distribution and outcome of symptomatic stenoses and occlusions in patients with acute cerebral ischemia. *Archives of neurology*. 2006;63:1287-1291
- Weber R, Kraywinkel K, Diener HC, Weimar C. Symptomatic intracranial atherosclerotic stenoses: Prevalence and prognosis in patients with acute cerebral ischemia. *Cerebrovascular diseases*. 2010;30:188-193
- Arenillas JF, Molina CA, Chacon P, Rovira A, Montaner J, Coscojuela P, et al. High lipoprotein (a), diabetes, and the extent of symptomatic intracranial atherosclerosis. *Neurology*. 2004;63:27-32
- Arenillas JF. Intracranial atherosclerosis: Current concepts. *Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation*. 2011;42:S20-23
- 17. Masuda J, Tanaka K, Omae T, Ueda K, Sadoshima S. Cerebrovascular diseases and their underlying vascular lesions in hisayama, japan--a pathological study of autopsy cases. *Stroke*. 1983;14:934-940
- Leung SY, Ng TH, Yuen ST, Lauder IJ, Ho FC. Pattern of cerebral atherosclerosis in hong kong chinese. Severity in intracranial and extracranial vessels. *Stroke*. 1993;24:779-786
- Wong KS, Huang YN, Yang HB, Gao S, Li H, Liu JY, et al. A door-to-door survey of intracranial atherosclerosis in liangbei county, china. *Neurology*. 2007;68:2031-2034
- Huang HW, Guo MH, Lin RJ, Chen YL, Luo Q, Zhang Y, et al. Prevalence and risk factors of middle cerebral artery stenosis in asymptomatic residents in rongqi county, guangdong. *Cerebrovascular diseases*. 2007;24:111-115
- Hill AB. Should patients be screened for asymptomatic carotid artery stenosis? Canadian journal of surgery. Journal canadien de chirurgie. 1998;41:208-213

- Wong KS, Ng PW, Tang A, Liu R, Yeung V, Tomlinson B. Prevalence of asymptomatic intracranial atherosclerosis in high-risk patients. *Neurology*. 2007;68:2035-2038
- Uehara T, Tabuchi M, Kozawa S, Mori E. Mr angiographic evaluation of carotid and intracranial arteries in japanese patients scheduled for coronary artery bypass grafting. *Cerebrovasc Dis*. 2001;11:341-345
- Feldmann E, Wilterdink JL, Kosinski A, Lynn M, Chimowitz MI, Sarafin J, et al. The stroke outcomes and neuroimaging of intracranial atherosclerosis (sonia) trial. *Neurology*. 2007;68:2099-2106
- Kaul S, Sunitha P, Suvarna A, Meena AK, Uma M, Reddy JM. Subtypes of ischemic stroke in a metropolitan city of south india (one year data from a hospital based stroke registry). *Neurology India*. 2002;50 Suppl:S8-S14
- De Silva DA, Woon FP, Lee MP, Chen CP, Chang HM, Wong MC. South asian patients with ischemic stroke: Intracranial large arteries are the predominant site of disease. *Stroke*. 2007;38:2592-2594
- Baker AB, Iannone A. Cerebrovascular disease. I. The large arteries of the circle of willis. *Neurology*. 1959;9:321-332
- General findings of the international atherosclerosis project. Laboratory investigation; a journal of technical methods and pathology. 1968;18:498-502
- Fields WS, North RR, Hass WK, Galbraith JG, Wylie EJ, Ratinov G, et al. Joint study of extracranial arterial occlusion as a cause of stroke. I. Organization of study and survey of patient population. *JAMA*. 1968;203:955-960
- Heyden S, Heyman A, Goree JA. Nonembolic occlusion of the middle cerebral and carotid arteries--a comparison of predisposing factors. *Stroke*. 1970;1:363-369
- Heyman A, Karp HR, Heyden S, Bartel A, Cassel JC, Tyroler HA, et al. Cerebrovascular disease in the bi-racial population of evans county, georgia. *Stroke*. 1971;2:509-518

- Tsivgoulis G, Vadikolias K, Heliopoulos I, Katsibari C, Voumvourakis K, Tsakaldimi S, et al. Prevalence of symptomatic intracranial atherosclerosis in caucasians: A prospective, multicenter, transcranial doppler study. *J Neuroimaging*. 2012
- Elmore EM, Mosquera A, Weinberger J. The prevalence of asymptomatic intracranial large-vessel occlusive disease: The role of diabetes. *J Neuroimaging*. 2003;13:224-227
- Lopez-Cancio E, Dorado L, Millan M, Reverte S, Sunol A, Massuet A, et al. The barcelonaasymptomatic intracranial atherosclerosis (asia) study: Prevalence and risk factors. *Atherosclerosis*. 2011
- Solberg LA, McGarry PA. Cerebral atherosclerosis in negroes and caucasians. *Atherosclerosis*. 1972;16:141-154
- Wityk RJ, Lehman D, Klag M, Coresh J, Ahn H, Litt B. Race and sex differences in the distribution of cerebral atherosclerosis. *Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation*. 1996;27:1974-1980
- Joakimsen O, Bonaa KH, Stensland-Bugge E, Jacobsen BK. Population-based study of age at menopause and ultrasound assessed carotid atherosclerosis: The tromso study. *Journal of clinical epidemiology*. 2000;53:525-530
- Yasaka M, Yamaguchi T, Shichiri M. Distribution of atherosclerosis and risk factors in atherothrombotic occlusion. *Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation*. 1993;24:206-211
- 39. Uehara T, Tabuchi M, Mori E. Risk factors for occlusive lesions of intracranial arteries in stroke-free japanese. European journal of neurology : the official journal of the European Federation of Neurological Societies. 2005;12:218-222
- Uehara T, Tabuchi M, Mori E. Frequency and clinical correlates of occlusive lesions of cerebral arteries in japanese patients without stroke. Evaluation by mr angiography. *Cerebrovasc Dis.* 1998;8:267-272
- Takahashi K, Kitani M, Fukuda H, Kobayashi S. Vascular risk factors for atherosclerotic lesions of the middle cerebral artery detected by magnetic resonance angiography (mra). *Acta neurologica Scandinavica*. 1999;100:395-399

- Huang HW, Guo MH, Lin RJ, Chen YL, Luo Q, Zhang Y, et al. Prevalence and risk factors of middle cerebral artery stenosis in asymptomatic residents in rongqi county, guangdong. *Cerebrovascular diseases*. 2007;24:111-115
- Bae HJ, Lee J, Park JM, Kwon O, Koo JS, Kim BK, et al. Risk factors of intracranial cerebral atherosclerosis among asymptomatics. *Cerebrovascular diseases*. 2007;24:355-360
- Sacco RL, Kargman DE, Gu Q, Zamanillo MC. Race-ethnicity and determinants of intracranial atherosclerotic cerebral infarction. The northern manhattan stroke study. *Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation*. 1995;26:14-20
- Gorelick PB, Caplan LR, Langenberg P, Hier DB, Pessin M, Patel D, et al. Clinical and angiographic comparison of asymptomatic occlusive cerebrovascular disease. *Neurology*. 1988;38:852-858
- Lee SJ, Cho SJ, Moon HS, Shon YM, Lee KH, Kim DI, et al. Combined extracranial and intracranial atherosclerosis in korean patients. *Archives of neurology*. 2003;60:1561-1564
- Suwanwela NC, Chutinetr A. Risk factors for atherosclerosis of cervicocerebral arteries: Intracranial versus extracranial. *Neuroepidemiology*. 2003;22:37-40
- 48. Park JH, Kwon HM, Roh JK. Metabolic syndrome is more associated with intracranial atherosclerosis than extracranial atherosclerosis. *European journal of neurology : the official journal of the European Federation of Neurological Societies*. 2007;14:379-386
- Bang OY, Saver JL, Ovbiagele B, Choi YJ, Yoon SR, Lee KH. Adiponectin levels in patients with intracranial atherosclerosis. *Neurology*. 2007;68:1931-1937
- Bang OY, Kim JW, Lee JH, Lee MA, Lee PH, Joo IS, et al. Association of the metabolic syndrome with intracranial atherosclerotic stroke. *Neurology*. 2005;65:296-298
- Kuller L, Reisler DM. Explanation for variations in distribution of stroke and arteriosclerotic heart disease among populations and racial groups. *Am J Epidemiol.* 1971;93:1-&

- Inzitari D, Hachinski VC, Taylor DW, Barnett HJ. Racial differences in the anterior circulation in cerebrovascular disease. How much can be explained by risk factors? *Archives of neurology*. 1990;47:1080-1084
- Kim JS, Choi-Kwon S. Risk factors for stroke in different levels of cerebral arterial disease. *European* neurology. 1999;42:150-156
- Bogousslavsky J, Barnett HJ, Fox AJ, Hachinski VC, Taylor W. Atherosclerotic disease of the middle cerebral artery. *Stroke*. 1986;17:1112-1120
- 55. Wong KS, Gao S, Chan YL, Hansberg T, Lam WW, Droste DW, et al. Mechanisms of acute cerebral infarctions in patients with middle cerebral artery stenosis: A diffusion-weighted imaging and microemboli monitoring study. *Ann Neurol.* 2002;52:74-81
- 56. Badimon JJ, Lettino M, Toschi V, Fuster V, Berrozpe M, Chesebro JH, et al. Local inhibition of tissue factor reduces the thrombogenicity of disrupted human atherosclerotic plaques: Effects of tissue factor pathway inhibitor on plaque thrombogenicity under flow conditions. *Circulation*. 1999;99:1780-1787
- Lafont A, Libby P. The smooth muscle cell: Sinner or saint in restenosis and the acute coronary syndromes? *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*. 1998;32:283-285
- Sitzer M, Muller W, Siebler M, Hort W, Kniemeyer HW, Jancke L, et al. Plaque ulceration and lumen thrombus are the main sources of cerebral microemboli in high-grade internal carotid artery stenosis. *Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation*. 1995;26:1231-1233
- Caplan LR. Intracranial branch atheromatous disease: A neglected, understudied, and underused concept. *Neurology*. 1989;39:1246-1250
- Adachi T, Kobayashi S, Yamaguchi S, Okada K. Mri findings of small subcortical "lacunar-like" infarction resulting from large vessel disease. *Journal of neurology*. 2000;247:280-285
- Bang OY, Heo JH, Kim JY, Park JH, Huh K. Middle cerebral artery stenosis is a major clinical determinant in striatocapsular small, deep infarction. *Archives of neurology*. 2002;59:259-263

- Mok VC, Fan YH, Lam WW, Hui AC, Wong KS. Small subcortical infarct and intracranial large artery disease in chinese. *Journal of the neurological sciences*. 2003;216:55-59
- Cho AH, Kang DW, Kwon SU, Kim JS. Is 15 mm size criterion for lacunar infarction still valid? A study on strictly subcortical middle cerebral artery territory infarction using diffusion-weighted mri. *Cerebrovascular diseases*. 2007;23:14-19
- Lee DK, Kim JS, Kwon SU, Yoo SH, Kang DW. Lesion patterns and stroke mechanism in atherosclerotic middle cerebral artery disease: Early diffusion-weighted imaging study. *Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation*. 2005;36:2583-2588
- 65. Kim JS, Caplan LR, Wong KS. Intracranial atherosclerosis. Wiley-Blackwell; 2008.
- Caplan LR, Wong KS, Gao S, Hennerici MG. Is hypoperfusion an important cause of strokes? If so, how? *Cerebrovasc Dis.* 2006;21:145-153
- Sedlaczek O, Caplan L, Hennerici M. Impaired washout--embolism and ischemic stroke: Further examples and proof of concept. *Cerebrovasc Dis.* 2005;19:396-401
- Caplan LR, Hennerici M. Impaired clearance of emboli (washout) is an important link between hypoperfusion, embolism, and ischemic stroke. *Arch Neurol.* 1998;55:1475-1482
- Spencer MP, Reid JM. Quantitation of carotid stenosis with continuous-wave (c-w) doppler ultrasound. *Stroke*. 1979;10:326-330
- 70. Kim JS, Caplan LR, Wong KSL. Intracranial atherosclerosis. John Wiley & Sons; 2009.
- Samuels OB, Joseph GJ, Lynn MJ, Smith HA, Chimowitz MI. A standardized method for measuring intracranial arterial stenosis. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol*. 2000;21:643-646
- Chimowitz MI, Kokkinos J, Strong J, Brown MB, Levine SR, Silliman S, et al. The warfarin-aspirin symptomatic intracranial disease study. *Neurology*. 1995;45:1488-1493

- 73. Bash S, Villablanca JP, Jahan R, Duckwiler G, Tillis M, Kidwell C, et al. Intracranial vascular stenosis and occlusive disease: Evaluation with ct angiography, mr angiography, and digital subtraction angiography. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol*. 2005;26:1012-1021
- Cloft HJ, Joseph GJ, Dion JE. Risk of cerebral angiography in patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage, cerebral aneurysm, and arteriovenous malformation: A meta-analysis. *Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation*. 1999;30:317-320
- 75. Jung HW, Chang KH, Choi DS, Han MH, Han MC. Contrast-enhanced mr angiography for the diagnosis of intracranial vascular disease: Optimal dose of gadopentetate dimeglumine. *AJR Am J Roentgenol.* 1995;165:1251-1255
- Heiserman JE. Magnetic resonance angiography and evaluation of cervical arteries. *Topics in magnetic resonance imaging : TMRI*. 2001;12:149-161
- Lell MM, Anders K, Uder M, Klotz E, Ditt H, Vega-Higuera F, et al. New techniques in ct angiography. *Radiographics : a review publication of the Radiological Society of North America, Inc.* 2006;26 Suppl 1:S45-62
- 78. Villablanca JP, Rodriguez FJ, Stockman T, Dahliwal S, Omura M, Hazany S, et al. Mdct angiography for detection and quantification of small intracranial arteries: Comparison with conventional catheter angiography. *AJR Am J Roentgenol*. 2007;188:593-602
- Aaslid R, Markwalder TM, Nornes H. Noninvasive transcranial doppler ultrasound recording of flow velocity in basal cerebral arteries. *J Neurosurg*. 1982;57:769-774
- Navarro JC, Lao AY, Sharma VK, Tsivgoulis G, Alexandrov AV. The accuracy of transcranial doppler in the diagnosis of middle cerebral artery stenosis. *Cerebrovasc Dis*. 2007;23:325-330
- Zhao L, Barlinn K, Sharma VK, Tsivgoulis G, Cava LF, Vasdekis SN, et al. Velocity criteria for intracranial stenosis revisited: An international multicenter study of transcranial doppler and digital subtraction angiography. *Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation*. 2011;42:3429-3434
- Baumgartner RW, Mattle HP, Schroth G. Assessment of >/=50% and <50% intracranial stenoses by transcranial color-coded duplex sonography. *Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation*. 1999;30:87-92

- Alexandrov AV, Hacke W. Cerebrovascular ultrasound in stroke prevention and treatment. Wiley; 2011.
- You Y, Hao Q, Leung T, Mok V, Chen X, Lau A, et al. Detection of the siphon internal carotid artery stenosis: Transcranial doppler versus digital subtraction angiography. *J Neuroimaging*. 2010;20:234-239
- 85. Ophir J, Parker KJ. Contrast agents in diagnostic ultrasound. Ultrasound Med Biol. 1990;16:209
- 86. Gramiak R, Shah PM. Echocardiography of the aortic root. Invest Radiol. 1968;3:356-366
- Feinstein SB, Cheirif J, Ten Cate FJ, Silverman PR, Heidenreich PA, Dick C, et al. Safety and efficacy of a new transpulmonary ultrasound contrast agent: Initial multicenter clinical results. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 1990;16:316-324
- Bogdahn U, Becker G, Schlief R, Reddig J, Hassel W. Contrast-enhanced transcranial color-coded real-time sonography. Results of a phase-two study. *Stroke*. 1993;24:676-684
- Vicenzini E, Giannoni MF, Benedetti-Valentini F, Lenzi GL. Imaging of carotid plaque angiogenesis. Cerebrovasc Dis. 2009;27 Suppl 2:48-54
- 90. Seidel G, Meyer-Wiethe K, Berdien G, Hollstein D, Toth D, Aach T. Ultrasound perfusion imaging in acute middle cerebral artery infarction predicts outcome. *Stroke*. 2004;35:1107-1111
- 91. Kern R, Diels A, Pettenpohl J, Kablau M, Brade J, Hennerici MG, et al. Real-time ultrasound brain perfusion imaging with analysis of microbubble replenishment in acute mca stroke. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2011;31:1716-1724
- Becher H, Schlief R. Improved sensitivity of color doppler by sh u 454. *Am J Cardiol*. 1989;64:374-377
- 93. Itoh T, Matsumoto M, Handa N, Maeda H, Hougaku H, Hashimoto H, et al. Rate of successful recording of blood flow signals in the middle cerebral artery using transcranial doppler sonography. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation. 1993;24:1192-1195

- 94. Seidel G, Kaps M, Gerriets T. Potential and limitations of transcranial color-coded sonography in stroke patients. *Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation*. 1995;26:2061-2066
- Gerriets T, Seidel G, Fiss I, Modrau B, Kaps M. Contrast-enhanced transcranial color-coded duplex sonography: Efficiency and validity. *Neurology*. 1999;52:1133-1137
- Goldberg BB, Hilpert PL, Burns PN, Liu JB, Newman LM, Merton DA, et al. Hepatic tumors: Signal enhancement at doppler us after intravenous injection of a contrast agent. *Radiology*. 1990;177:713-717
- Albrecht T, Urbank A, Mahler M, Bauer A, Dore CJ, Blomley MJ, et al. Prolongation and optimization of doppler enhancement with a microbubble us contrast agent by using continuous infusion: Preliminary experience. *Radiology*. 1998;207:339-347
- Khan HG, Gailloud P, Bude RO, Martin JB, Szopinski KT, Khaw C, et al. The effect of contrast material on transcranial doppler evaluation of normal middle cerebral artery peak systolic velocity. *AJNR. American journal of neuroradiology*. 2000;21:386-390
- Griewing B, Schminke U, Motsch L, Brassel F, Kessler C. Transcranial duplex sonography of middle cerebral artery stenosis: A comparison of colour-coding techniques--frequency- or power-based doppler and contrast enhancement. *Neuroradiology*. 1998;40:490-495
- Zanette EM, Fieschi C, Bozzao L, Roberti C, Toni D, Argentino C, et al. Comparison of cerebral angiography and transcranial doppler sonography in acute stroke. *Stroke*. 1989;20:899-903
- Arts MG, Roevros JM. On the instantaneous measurement of bloodflow by ultrasonic means. *Medical* & *biological engineering*. 1972;10:23-34
- Deverson S, Evans DH. Using doppler signal power to detect changes in vessel size: A feasibility study using a wall-less flow phantom. *Ultrasound Med Biol.* 2000;26:593-602
- 103. Hatab MR, Giller CA, Clarke GD. Evaluation of cerebral arterial flow with transcranial doppler ultrasound: Theoretical development and phantom studies. *Ultrasound Med Biol.* 1997;23:1025-1031

- Naess H, Waje-Andreassen U, Brogger J, Thomassen L. [patients with acute cerebral infarction admitted to stroke unit]. *Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen*. 2011;131:814-818
- Brown PM, Johnston KW, Kassam M, Cobbold RS. A critical study of ultrasound doppler spectral analysis for detecting carotid disease. *Ultrasound Med Biol.* 1982;8:515-523
- Wong KS, Huang YN, Gao S, Lam WW, Chan YL, Kay R. Intracranial stenosis in chinese patients with acute stroke. *Neurology*. 1998;50:812-813
- 107. Wong KS, Li H, Chan YL, Ahuja A, Lam WWM, Wong A, et al. Use of transcranial doppler ultrasound to predict outcome in patients with intracranial large-artery occlusive disease. *Stroke*. 2000;31:2641-2647
- De Silva DA, Woon F-P, Lee M-P, Chen CPLH, Chang H-M, Wong M-C. South asian patients with ischemic stroke: Intracranial large arteries are the predominant site of disease. *Stroke*. 2007;38:2592-2594
- Kaul S, Sunitha P, Suvarna A, Meena A, Uma M, Reddy J. En subtypes of ischemic stroke in a metropolitan city of south india (one year data from a hospital based stroke registry). *Neurology India*. 2002;50:S8-S14
- 110. Homburg PJ, Plas GJ, Rozie S, van der Lugt A, Dippel DW. Prevalence and calcification of intracranial arterial stenotic lesions as assessed with multidetector computed tomography angiography. *Stroke*. 2011;42:1244-1250
- 111. Valsamakis G, Chetty R, McTernan PG, Al-Daghri NM, Barnett AH, Kumar S. Fasting serum adiponectin concentration is reduced in indo-asian subjects and is related to hdl cholesterol. *Diabetes, obesity & metabolism.* 2003;5:131-135
- 112. Arita Y, Kihara S, Ouchi N, Takahashi M, Maeda K, Miyagawa J, et al. Paradoxical decrease of an adipose-specific protein, adiponectin, in obesity. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 1999;257:79-83
- 113. Kadowaki K, Waguri M, Nakanishi I, Miyashita Y, Nakayama M, Suehara N, et al. Adiponectin concentration in umbilical cord serum is positively associated with the weight ratio of fetus to placenta. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism.* 2006;91:5090-5094

- 114. Matsuda M, Shimomura I, Sata M, Arita Y, Nishida M, Maeda N, et al. Role of adiponectin in preventing vascular stenosis. The missing link of adipo-vascular axis. *J Biol Chem.* 2002;277:37487-37491
- Khan S, Cloud GC, Kerry S, Markus HS. Imaging of vertebral artery stenosis: A systematic review. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2007;78:1218-1225
- Qureshi AI, Feldmann E, Gomez CR, Johnston SC, Kasner SE, Quick DC, et al. Consensus conference on intracranial atherosclerotic disease: Rationale, methodology, and results. *J Neuroimaging*. 2009;19 Suppl 1:1S-10S
- Suri MF, Johnston SC. Epidemiology of intracranial stenosis. J Neuroimaging. 2009;19 Suppl 1:11S-16S
- 118. Klein IF, Lavallee PC, Mazighi M, Schouman-Claeys E, Labreuche J, Amarenco P. Basilar artery atherosclerotic plaques in paramedian and lacunar pontine infarctions: A high-resolution mri study. *Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation*. 2010;41:1405-1409
- 119. Meyers PM, Schumacher HC, Gray WA, Fifi J, Gaudet JG, Heyer EJ, et al. Intravascular ultrasound of symptomatic intracranial stenosis demonstrates atherosclerotic plaque with intraplaque hemorrhage: A case report. J Neuroimaging. 2009;19:266-270
- 120. Adams HP, Jr., Bendixen BH, Kappelle LJ, Biller J, Love BB, Gordon DL, et al. Classification of subtype of acute ischemic stroke. Definitions for use in a multicenter clinical trial. Toast. Trial of org 10172 in acute stroke treatment. *Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation*. 1993;24:35-41
- 121. Man BL, Fu YP, Chan YY, Lam W, Hui AC, Leung WH, et al. Lesion patterns and stroke mechanisms in concurrent atherosclerosis of intracranial and extracranial vessels. *Stroke*. 2009;40:3211-3215
- Cho KH, Kang DW, Kwon SU, Kim JS. Location of single subcortical infarction due to middle cerebral artery atherosclerosis: Proximal versus distal arterial stenosis. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. 2009;80:48-52
- Wong KS, Li H. Long-term mortality and recurrent stroke risk among chinese stroke patients with predominant intracranial atherosclerosis. *Stroke*. 2003;34:2361-2366

- Li H, Wong KS, Kay R. Relationship between the oxfordshire community stroke project classification and vascular abnormalities in patients with predominantly intracranial atherosclerosis. *J Neurol Sci.* 2003;207:65-69
- Lenzi GL, Vicenzini E. The ruler is dead: An analysis of carotid plaque motion. *Cerebrovasc Dis*. 2007;23:121-125
- Naghavi M, Libby P, Falk E, Casscells SW, Litovsky S, Rumberger J, et al. From vulnerable plaque to vulnerable patient: A call for new definitions and risk assessment strategies: Part ii. *Circulation*. 2003;108:1772-1778
- Kasner SE, Chimowitz MI, Lynn MJ, Howlett-Smith H, Stern BJ, Hertzberg VS, et al. Predictors of ischemic stroke in the territory of a symptomatic intracranial arterial stenosis. *Circulation*. 2006;113:555-563
- Klein IF, Lavallee PC, Schouman-Claeys E, Amarenco P. High-resolution mri identifies basilar artery plaques in paramedian pontine infarct. *Neurology*. 2005;64:551-552
- Glagov S, Weisenberg E, Zarins CK, Stankunavicius R, Kolettis GJ. Compensatory enlargement of human atherosclerotic coronary arteries. *N Engl J Med.* 1987;316:1371-1375
- Turan TN, Bonilha L, Morgan PS, Adams RJ, Chimowitz MI. Intraplaque hemorrhage in symptomatic intracranial atherosclerotic disease. *J Neuroimaging*. 2011;21:e159-161
- Klein IF, Lavallee PC, Touboul PJ, Schouman-Claeys E, Amarenco P. In vivo middle cerebral artery plaque imaging by high-resolution mri. *Neurology*. 2006;67:327-329
- Alexandrov AV, Babikian VL, Adams RJ, Tegeler CH, Caplan LR, Spencer MP, et al. The evolving role of transcranial doppler in stroke prevention and treatment. *J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis.* 1998;7:101-104
- Alexandrov AV. The spencer's curve: Clinical implications of a classic hemodynamic model. J Neuroimaging. 2007;17:6-10

- Landwehr P, Schindler R, Heinrich U, Dolken W, Krahe T, Lackner K. Quantification of vascular stenosis with color doppler flow imaging: In vitro investigations. *Radiology*. 1991;178:701-704
- Valdueza J, Schreiber S, Roehl J, Klingebiel R. Neurosonology and neuroimaging of stroke, book & dvd. Thieme; 2008.
- Forsberg F, Liu JB, Burns PN, Merton DA, Goldberg BB. Artifacts in ultrasonic contrast agent studies. J Ultrasound Med. 1994;13:357-365
- Petrick J, Zomack M, Schlief R. An investigation of the relationship between ultrasound echo enhancement and doppler frequency shift using a pulsatile arterial flow phantom. *Invest Radiol*. 1997;32:225-235
- Fritzsch T, Schartl M, Siegert J. Preclinical and clinical results with an ultrasonic contrast agent. *Invest Radiol.* 1988;23 Suppl 1:S302-305
- Tortoli P, Pratesi M, Michelassi V. Doppler spectra from contrast agents crossing an ultrasound field. IEEE Trans Ultrason Ferroelectr Freq Control. 2000;47:716-726
- Tortoli P, Boni E, Corsi M, Arditi M, Frinking P. Different effects of microbubble destruction and translation in doppler measurements. *IEEE Trans Ultrason Ferroelectr Freq Control*. 2005;52:1183-1188
- Tortoli P, Guidi F, Mori R, Vos HJ. The use of microbubbles in doppler ultrasound studies. *Med Biol Eng Comput.* 2009;47:827-838
- 142. Tortoli P, Michelassi V, Corsi M, Righi D, Takeuchi Y. On the interaction between ultrasound and contrast agents during doppler investigations. *Ultrasound in medicine & biology*. 2001;27:1265-1273
- 143. Abildgaard A, Egge TS, Klow NE, Jakobsen JA. Use of sonicated albumin (infoson) to enhance arterial spectral and color doppler imaging. *Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol*. 1996;19:265-271
- 144. Gutberlet M, Venz S, Neuhaus R, Ehrenstein T, Lemke AJ, Vogl TJ, et al. [contrast agent enhanced duplex ultrasonography: Visualization of the hepatic artery after orthotopic liver transplantation]. *RoFo : Fortschritte auf dem Gebiete der Rontgenstrahlen und der Nuklearmedizin.* 1997;166:411-416
- 145. Gutberlet M, Venz S, Zendel W, Hosten N, Felix R. Do ultrasonic contrast agents artificially increase maximum doppler shift? In vivo study of human common carotid arteries. J Ultrasound Med. 1998;17:97-102
- 146. Mazighi M, Tanasescu R, Ducrocq X, Vicaut E, Bracard S, Houdart E, et al. Prospective study of symptomatic atherothrombotic intracranial stenoses: The gesica study. *Neurology*. 2006;66:1187-1191